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Brent Scrimshaw

 

President & CEO

It’s not a well-known fact but it’s certainly a point 
of pride for every Atlantic Lottery employee: Every 
year, 100% of our pro�t goes back to our sharehold-
ers, the four governments of Atlantic Canada. 
Those dollars, more than $368 million this past year, 
help fund the programs and services that bene�t 
us all, from hospitals to schools, and from roads 
to arenas.

Well beyond our pro�t, we operate with the goal 
of building a better Atlantic Canada by employing 
some of the best and brightest folks at our 
company, and by supporting other businesses 
from this region through our supply chain. In fact, 
this past year alone 89 cents of every dollar we 
earned stayed in Atlantic Canada. We are Atlantic 
Canadians. We show our pride in that fact by 
working in our communities as sponsors of events 
and as volunteers for many worthwhile initiatives. 
Giving back is a very important part of our Atlantic 
Lottery culture.

The past year was a good one for Atlantic Lottery. 
We like to say it was a turning point in this
38-year-old adventure as we recorded some quite 
notable results. We charted a year-over-year 
increase in dividends paid to the provinces, 
reversing what had become a concerning trend. 
We saw records set in our Instant ticket line, 
in Sports and at alc.ca. 

The remodelled LOTTO 6/49 was – and is – a hit in 
all four provinces. Our e�orts to modernize our 
brands, our focus on operational e�ciency and 
our investments in infrastructure are beginning to 
pay o� as we ready Atlantic Lottery to compete 
and win in a radically new gaming market.  

We’re on the right track. We’re a better company. 
We have the right discipline, focus and processes 
to support an aggressive agenda. The road ahead 
has many challenges, however. We simply have to 
work harder to provide the right products in the 
right channels for new players. These players – 
largely young adults – are gaming with competi-
tors from away; with organizations that are not 
as committed as we are to providing safe and 
regulated products and that don’t support our 
Atlantic Canadian economy. It is our mandate 
to provide a regulated, responsible and 
competitive alternative. 

At the same time, we have to be constantly vigilant 
that our policies at retail, particularly with respect 
to access to our products by minors, are being 
followed. While infrequent, we have seen retailer 
compliance scores that are not what they should be 
and we will heighten monitoring and enforcement 
as a result.

We need to work with our shareholder provinces 
to ensure that the legislation and regulation 
governing gaming deliver on our mandate to 
provide world-class responsible gambling products, 
and that they also support e�cient and e�ective 
operations. While we like to think we are a model 
of Atlantic Canadian cooperation, we know we can 
make that model even better. We want to be that 
company that Atlantic Canadians look to with pride, 
not just for what we do, but, more importantly, 
for how we do it.

As I noted, the global gaming market is changing 
in a big way. What makes us di�erent from those 
who would challenge us is simple: before pro�t is 
considered, the �rst question we ask is always, ‘is 
it safe and responsible?’ That is followed quickly 
by ‘does it bene�t Atlantic Canada?’

I’m extremely proud of our employees and our 
e�orts in 2013/14. Please read on for more about 
our accomplishments and to learn how we’re 
evolving to deliver a better experience for our 
players and better results for our shareholders.

Sincerely,

Brent Scrimshaw
@BrentScrimshaw 
 

• View our Financial Highlights, Audited Financials           
  and Management Discussion and Analysis

• View our executive team bios

• View the section: Lottery Looks Di�erent 
  – The Accomplishments of 2013/14

• View the section: Foundation for the Future 
  – Our Commitment to Corporate Social Responsibility

• View the section: Getting to the Next Level 
  – Setting the Stage for Sustainable Pro�ts   

President’s Message

Senior Management (l-r)
Scott McWilliam, VP, Sales & Marketing

Patrick Daigle, Chief Financial O�cer
Phil Holmes, VP, Transformation

Charlotte Bell, VP, Corporate A�airs
Brent Scrimshaw, President & CEO

Alison Stultz, VP, People
Bill Parsons, VP, Corporate Development

Jim Porter, Chief Operating O�cer
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As Chair of the Board, I’ve seen �rst-hand the
rigour, pride and passion that goes into delivering 
safe and entertaining gambling products for 
Atlantic Canadians. From idea to design, from 
game mechanics to point of purchase, every step 
is planned, reviewed, scrutinized and executed 
with the player in mind.  

As part of our governance responsibilities, the 
Board plays an advisory role in setting the course 
and working with Atlantic Lottery to achieve each 
province’s priorities and their respective gaming 
strategies. The Board members also act as 
advocates for Atlantic Lottery’s strategic direction, 
liaising with shareholders to promote understanding.  

Collectively the Board is involved with strategic 
planning activities, including approval of the 
operating and capital budgets, human resource 
management and risk management. Sub-commit-
tees focus speci�cally on matters related to Audit, 
Organizational Development and Social 
Responsibility, and Governance. 

It’s been an exciting year. The Board was 
challenged to understand, respond and champion 
the evolution of Atlantic Lottery. We recognize that 
unregulated options, global competition and the 
preferences of younger adult players are factors 
that must be addressed for Atlantic Lottery to 
remain successful. People will seek gaming options 
to meet their expectations and Atlantic Lottery is 
aiming to become their �rst choice every time. 

We’re encouraged by both the e�orts and the 
positive return this past year. In 2014/15, the work 
continues. Atlantic Canadians can expect to see 
continued change as Atlantic Lottery hones its 
competitive edge. 

Atlantic Lottery’s foundation is built on the safe 
and responsible delivery of games that Atlantic 
Canadians want to play. Despite the move away 
from a monopoly status, the commitment to 
responsible gambling products still rings true.  

The Board, on behalf of its shareholders, endorses 
the strategic direction and is con�dent that Atlantic 
Lottery can deliver. 

Atlantic Lottery is positioning itself for continued 
success. It is the right thing for Atlantic Canadians, 
who will bene�t from their e�orts for years 
to come.

With the interest of Atlantic Canadians at heart,
Sincerely,

Sean O’Connor

C. Sean O’Connor
Chair

Board (l-r)
C. Sean O’Connor, Board Chair

Kevin Breen
Gordon Gillis
Jane Garbutt

Wallace Floyd
Patricia J. Mella

Doug Clow
Stephen Mont

Peter Au

Chair of the Board Message
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It takes a lot of dedication and innovation to keep 
our products entertaining - even in the lottery 
industry where we sell “fun and games”. Many 
of our products are gaming staples, legendary 
brands that have become household names. 
Times change though and we need to mix-it-up 
from time to time. 

We spent the past year giving players new promo-
tions, new games, and enhancing perennial game 
favourites. It’s all about bringing our products 
more in line with players’ expectations.

We continue to hone in on making the player 
experience a good one; whether it’s a ticket 
purchased at retail or online, gaming in social 
venues, playing the horses, or trying out the new 
blackjack tables at Red Shores in Charlottetown.

As we adjusted to meet the expectations of 
players, we also met (and sometimes exceeded) 
our �nancial expectations. We experienced record 
sales in our Scratch’N Win products and nation 
leading growth from our PRO•LINE products. 
Likewise, alc.ca experienced record sales and 
increased its player base. Over at 2Chance.ca, 
more than 200,000 players are enjoying new 
possibilities with a non-winning ticket. 

We rejigged, retooled and rejuvenated our
traditional games and the online experience: 

FLAGSHIP LOTTO 6/49 GETS A MAKEOVER

Long-time favourite LOTTO 6/49 relaunched 
on Sept.15, 2013. With a new price point, players 
have a chance at a $1 Million Guaranteed Prize 
each draw, free play prizes for matching just two 
numbers, and jackpots that start at $5 million. 

“We didn’t have to wait long to meet our �rst 
Guaranteed $1 Million winners… or the second… 
or the third,” recalls Manon Deslauriers, Senior 
Brand Manager of Jackpot and Regional Games. 
“The �rst draw was Sept. 18 and we had our �rst 
Atlantic Canadian guaranteed million winner on 
the Oct. 19 draw. Then another on the Nov. 13 
and the Nov. 27 draws. It was exciting!”  

Players also enjoyed the Super Draws in December 
and March where additional $1 million guaranteed 
prizes were drawn. Atlantic Canadians laid claim to 
two of the Super Draw Guaranteed $1 Million prizes. 

HOCKEY STRIKE LEADS TO NEW 
SPORTS WAGER OPTIONS 

When the hockey strike hit in late 2012/early 2013, 
many sports lotteries took a body check. 
Not Atlantic Lottery. We �lled the gap for PRO•LINE 
players by o�ering new types of in-game props 
on basketball, baseball and football. 

“The idea was to give players a healthy list of 
options to wager on, despite not having hockey,” 
says Scott Eagles, Sports Control Specialist. 

While sports sales nationally su�ered during the 
hockey lock-out, and were down for Fiscal 2013, 
Atlantic Lottery experienced only a 2% drop in 
revenue during the months without hockey and 
still experienced 5.6 % growth for the year. 

Our sports lottery continues to perform well. 
The 2013/14 year saw sales increase by 4.5% over 
2012/13, and gross pro�t was up 21%. Since 2011, 
we more than doubled the number of individual 
events available for wagering, moving from 
about 12,000 to more than 28,000. 

While the bulk of PRO•LINE wagers are for sporting 
events, recent additions of award show and reality 
show bets have attracted the attention of players 
looking for variety. 

    

STARTING FROM SCRATCH AND 
TAKING SECOND CHANCES

In addition to favourite Scratch’N Win games like 
Set for Life and Crossword, players had the option 
to play for bigger top prizes of $500,000, $1 million 
and $2 million with four new national tickets. 

“Those are massive prizes that aren’t often 
associated with Scratch’N Win games,” says 
Merrill Fullerton, Senior Brand Manager of Instant 
Games. “By developing these games in partnership 
with other Canadian lotteries, we can add the 
excitement of a large top prize to the play 
experience. These games o�ered players a lot 
of play value and added a variety of price points, 
themes and prizes to our selection of games.”
 
In total, Atlantic Lottery launched more than 60 
Scratch’N Win games in 2013/14, ranging in price 
from $1 to $20. Atlantic Canadians won more 
than $128 million in prizes from these Scratch’N 
Win games. 

Adding to this winning experience was 2Chance.ca 
where thousands of players entered their non-
winning tickets online for a chance at half a million 
dollars in additional prizing. The 2Chance web site 
is �lled with the names and faces of players from 
across the region who took home some extra 
winnings by participating in this popular 
promotion. 

We’ll keep changing as the industry and player preferences 
change, and as technology evolves.

The Accomplishments of 2013/14
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The Accomplishments of 2013/14   continued

THE SOCIAL SIDE OF LOTTERY  

In 2013/14 we began to replace our obsolete video 
lottery system and terminals. That allowed us to 
introduce the �rst new game options in more than 
three years – games that o�er di�erent game play 
styles and interaction along with new ways to win. 

The �exibility of the system means that we will 
eventually be able to change up game options 
quickly, recognizing that preferences can vary both 
from province to province and even from location 
to location. 
 
Most importantly, the new game terminals o�er 
the best and latest in responsible gambling tools 
for our players. We’ll always balance entertaining 
games with the latest responsible gambling 
tools available. 

The new system provides retailers with more 
information about the activity on their machines 
and can assist with trouble shooting and diagnos-
tics should there be an equipment problem. 

“We have a real-time view of what’s going on 
instead of just a daily report. This means less 
inconvenience for the players because we can be 
more proactive about issues. With the retailer’s 
help we can even �x some of them remotely 
instead of sending an Account Service Manager,” 
explains Charline LeBlanc, a Senior Customer 
Care Rep. 

At Red Shores the slot machines have also been 
upgraded to mirror the advancements in the 
industry. Again, it’s all about providing a great 
entertainment experience at our Red Shores sites. 

THAT PLACE CALLED ALC.CA 

Opportunities for players to participate in promo-
tions and special contests on alc.ca are on the rise. 
From iBingo Bonus Bucks jackpots to second 
chance draws to the Ford Mustang promotion, 
we wanted to show our players that we appreciate 
their support.

alc.ca continues to attract players who enjoy the 
convenience and perks of playing online. “We 
focused our player communications on things they 
wanted to know about like jackpots and winners,” 
explains Meredith Kidney, Marketing Specialist for 
alc.ca. “And we took every opportunity to bring 
them promos that they could enjoy simply by 
being a member.”  

We also appreciate players’ patience while we 
continue the development of our new technology 
platform. We’re taking our time to ensure that it 
will  deliver a better overall player experience, 
better player management tools and more diverse, 
and competitive gambling options. Again it’s 
about o�ering the products and experiences 
that players want and expect today.

The numbers tell us we’re headed in the right 
direction. This past year saw record-breaking sales 
on alc.ca of $19.2 million, representing 6% sales 
growth. 

In August 2014 Atlantic Lottery will celebrate 10 
years of responsibly o�ering internet gambling 
products. We look forward to celebrating with 
our players.

ARE WE THERE YET?

While some players still just enjoy the chance to 
dream big with games like LOTTO 6/49 and LOTTO 
MAX, lottery today is so much more. Players want 
to be entertained. They want di�erent options, 
di�erent ways to play, and di�erent prize structures. 
When they play with us, they’re protected with 
responsible gambling tools that are recognized 
as being among the best in the world.

We’ve worked hard to make all of our lottery 
experiences entertaining for our players. We’ll keep 
changing as the industry and player preferences 
change, and as technology evolves. You’ll always 
be able to play for the big jackpots. Scratch tickets 
will continue to be a great companion to your 
co�ee break. However, if you want a di�erent 
lottery experience we want to be your �rst choice 
with games that are both in-tune with our player 
preferences and aligned with our commitment to 
regulated safe gambling products. We’re working 
towards that goal. 
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We’re talking a lot about the evolution of gambling 
and player expectations. We’re spending a lot of 
time thinking about the right products and the 
right delivery channels. There is no doubt our 
games will evolve and the way we deliver them 
to players will change. Evolution and change are 
just parts of being a progressive and relevant 
lottery company. 

One thing that won’t ever change is our 
commitment to player protection. That is simply 
part of our promise to Atlantic Canadians. 
No matter where or what you play, your Atlantic 
Lottery experience comes with the strongest 
responsible gambling practices available. They 
always will, no matter what the future of lottery 
looks like. 

Responsible gambling has long been a funda-
mental focus for us, even before we received the 
World Lottery Association’s Responsible Gaming 
Level 4 certi�cation con�rming our status as a 
world leader. 

Other certi�cations, such as the Responsible 
Gambling Council’s RG Check accreditation at our 
Red Shores locations in Charlottetown and 
Summerside, con�rm our land-based entertain-
ment centres are also delivering the strongest 
responsible gambling practices available anywhere.  

Responsible gambling tools and education are also 
part of the experience on alc.ca and in social 
venues. All of our employees and our retailers play 
an important role. Customized training programs 
give employees, lottery retailers, and sta� in 
age-restricted social venues a practical knowledge 
of responsible gambling practices and their 
e�ective delivery.

THE BIGGER PICTURE

Responsible gambling is a primary focus in 
our broader commitment to corporate social 
responsibility (CSR).

Corporate social responsibility encompasses not 
only what companies do with their pro�ts, but also 
how they generate them. It is the framework 
through which we make all our business decisions. 
It’s re�ected in our approach to managing our 
economic, social, and environmental impacts, as 
well as our relationships in the workplace, the 
marketplace, the supply chain and the community.

It spans the full gamut, from sourcing our goods 
and services from companies that share our values 
to ensuring our supply contracts include environ-
mentally responsible end-of-life plans. 

We outwardly demonstrate our CSR commitment 
in our communities through sponsorships and our 
support of local charities. We’re passionate about 
where we live and have a long-standing commit-
ment to supporting community events and organi-
zations that enrich our lives and improve life in 
Atlantic Canada for everyone from Corner Brook 
to Campbellton. 

This year the Canadian Business for Social Responsi-
bility recognized our e�orts with an Excellence in 
Corporate Responsibility award. Atlantic Lottery 
was the only Atlantic Canadian organization 
recognized and the only lottery to be recognized.

Many of our programs, practices, decisions and 
communications re�ect our commitment to social 
responsibility. We demonstrate that commitment 
in many ways:

Foundation for the Future – Our Commitment to Corporate Social Responsibility
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Foundation for the Future – Our Commitment to Corporate Social Responsibility   continued

Since the launch of AskAway.ca, a website where
no lo�ery question goes unanswered, we’ve been
be�er able to address Atlantic Canadians’ questions. 

A HEALTHY ORGANIZATION

Employees are our greatest asset and our competi-
tive advantage. It was with this in mind that we 
introduced a wellness program for employees in 
2011. The program encourages a work/life balance 
by promoting physical activity, healthy eating, 
mental �tness, and smoke-free living.

“Our investment in the health and wellness of our 
team is not just good policy, it is good business. 
We wanted to create an environment where people 
are happy and healthy, where they reach their 
potential,” says President and CEO Brent Scrimshaw. 
“A healthy workplace is one where people look 
forward to coming to work.”    

The Heart and Stroke Foundation recognized the 
program for its e�orts to build a healthier work-
place. One might question the return on invest-
ment but the numbers speak for themselves: less 
sick time among participants, a decrease in the 
use of �ve of the top 10 prescribed drugs and the 
loss of 269 inches and more than 230 pounds. 

WORKING WITH OUR RETAILERS

Retailers are the �rst point of contact with our 
players. To ensure we support their e�orts as a 
lottery retailer, all of our materials are available 
in English and French. 

This past year we began o�ering our business 
materials in a third language: Korean. The addition 
of an Inside Sales Representative �uent in Korean 
means that retailers who contact our customer 
care centre can get service in three languages. 

“Lottery is a complex business. By providing 
communications in Korean, we can help our 
retailers to more clearly understand obligations, 
expectations and the nature of the business,” 
says Scott Grant, Atlantic Lottery’s Director of 
Sales and Sales Support.

With the number of Korean retailers growing, 
we recognized that adding a third language 
was the right thing to do for our players and 
for our partners.

COMMUNICATING WITH ATLANTIC 
CANADIANS 

We’re a public company. We’re proud of that fact. 
Whether you play lottery or not, you should know 
that 100% of lottery pro�ts are returned to bene�t 
Atlantic Canadians. Since the launch of AskAway.ca, 
a website where no lottery question goes 
unanswered, we’ve been better able to address 
Atlantic Canadians’ questions. 

As a result, today more and more people under-
stand where our pro�ts go, our commitment to 
safe and regulated gambling, the manner in 
which we operate this business on their behalf, 
and overall, how we make Atlantic Canada a 
better place for all of us.

Atlantic Lo�ery  Accountability Report 2013/2014



 

We’ve provided lottery to Atlantic Canadians for 
nearly four decades. Lottery looked a lot di�erent 
in 1976 than it does today. Over the years, we 
evolved as players evolved, responding to their 
interests. We’ve gone from a single draw game 
to o�ering scratch tickets, video lottery, sports 
wagers, and even Internet bingo. Each game 
delivered with world-leading responsible gam-
bling practices. Each penny of pro�t returned 
to our shareholders. 

The evolution of lottery must continue if we are 
to deliver on our mandate of providing fun games 
in a safe and regulated manner. We �nd ourselves 
tackling a few sizeable challenges. In particular,
we must ensure we have the right technology in 
place, not just for today, but also for the future. 

LET’S TALK TECHNOLOGY

No surprise to anyone, the lifespan of technology 
is getting consistently shorter. To provide the type 
of gaming experiences that our customers want, 
we have to stay competitive day in and day out. 
That means a technology refresh in many parts 
of the business.

We’ve already begun investing in the right technol-
ogy to meet our players’ needs across all of our 
lines of business: in eGaming, ticket lottery, video 
lottery and at Red Shores. The plan for renewal is 
both ambitious and essential. It will allow us to 
modernize and diversify our products and experi-
ences. No matter where our players are, we will 
be better equipped to compete for lottery players’ 
evolving interests.

In particular, we will be upgrading technology in 
our eGaming channel to better deliver on the 
wants of today’s players. For the past decade, 
we’ve o�ered many of the same games on alc.ca 
that are available at retail, along with Internet 
bingo and Pick’n Click games. alc.ca is already 
recognized as a trusted, safe and regulated site 
by the World Lottery Association and certi�ed 
with the ISO security control standard, so we will 
look to increase our presence and broaden our 
suite of products in the future. 

ATTRACTING TODAY’S GAMERS 

Research tells us that nearly 70% of adult Atlantic 
Canadians play our games. We also know that the 
bulk of those players are over 30. We face a growing 
challenge in attracting younger adults; those 
players who grew up in the digital world playing 
games of strategy and skill, with leaderboards and 
player pro�les and who continue to game online, 
often with o�-shore illegal gaming providers.

We have to do a better job, as an industry and 
a company, of providing younger adults with 
entertaining options. That means new styles of 
games and new experiences unlike what we 
o�er today. 

Ge�ing to the Next Level - Se�ing the Stage for Sustainable Profits

THE COMPETITIVE REALITY

As a publicly owned organization, we operate on 
behalf of all Atlantic Canadians. In the past, we 
operated as a monopoly and legislation clearly 
outlined the manner in which we were expected 
to operate. Canadian lotteries continue to adhere 
to the respective government standards and 
expectations designed to protect players. 
The landscape though, has changed. 

In recent years, we’ve seen an explosion in gaming 
technology and accessibility. Along with it came 
the introduction of more than 2,500 unregulated 
online gaming providers from places like Malta 
and Gibraltar.  

Atlantic Canadians are spending millions of dollars 
annually on these gambling sites that operate 
outside of any regulations established by our 
governments. Unlike Atlantic Lottery, those sites’ 
pro�ts don’t stay in the region to support our 
communities. As is the case in British Columbia, 
Manitoba, Ontario and Quebec, a safe and 
regulated alternative would advance player 
protection in Atlantic Canada. We think it’s 
time for the discussion. 

alc.ca is already recognized as a trusted, safe and
regulated site by the World Lo�ery Association
so we will look to increase our presence and
broaden our suite of products in the future.
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Financial Highlights

2013/2014 2012/2013 2011/2012 2010/2011 2009/2010 2008/2009

Gross ticket sales $671,286 $646,903 $626,991 $646,428 $592,319 $595,784
Prizes on ticket sales 384,294 $367,723 362,527 366,827 342,794 339,658
Net ticket sales 286,992  $279,180 264,464 279,601 249,525 256,126 

Prizes as % of sales 57% 57% 58% 57% 58% 57%

Net video lottery receipts 374,053  381,830  411,101 411,596  427,931  437,417  
Entertainment centre revenue 19,988  19,320  19,162  15,002  13,606  11,538  

Direct costs (commissions, tickets, game licensing) 138,958  140,425  145,529  148,632  148,806  155,859  

Gross profit 542,075  539,905    549,198   557,567  542,256  549,222  

Gross profit as % of net sales 80% 79% 79% 79% 78% 78%

Operating expenses 111,294 116,137  124,010 125,135  98,683 95,167  
Operating expenses as % of net sales 16% 17% 18% 18% 14% 13%
Capital-related costs 29,884 30,585  23,602 24,872 22,878  26,581 
Other expenses and distributions 32,460  32,123  31,899  36,426 31,327 29,345  

Net profit $368,437 $361,060 $369,687 $371,134 $389,368 $398,129

Net profit as % of net sales 54% 53% 53% 53% 56% 56%

Profit distribution:
New Brunswick $119,756 $119,733 $120,010 $121,823 $130,760 $133,401
Newfoundland and Labrador 122,744  113,728   107,805   106,393  109,161 107,504
Nova Scotia 110,574 112,277 126,957 129,808 134,606 139,729 
Prince Edward Island 15,316  15,391 14,871 13,202 14,737 17,620

$368,390 $361,129 $369,643 $371,226 $389,264 $398,254

Profit distribution per capita:
New Brunswick $194 $198 $200 $203 $228 $233
Newfoundland and Labrador 289 276 260 259 273 269 
Nova Scotia 143 147 172 172 188 195 
Prince Edward Island 129 136 136 142 142 166

Number of lottery retail terminals 3,018 2,990 3,004 3,018 3,060 3,198

Number of multi-purpose retail terminals 44 57 63 91 168 264

Number of video lottery terminals 6,981 6,934 6,957 7,102 7,303 7,619

* This table is based on Atlantic Lottery’s consolidated financial statements
* Restatement based on the IFRS amended pension standard effective April 1, 2013 (IAS19R). For more see Note 2 in the Audited Financial Statements.

* Figures for 2012 onward are presented under IFRS; prior year figures are presented under GAAP
* $ in 000’s
* Figures are rounded

Restated

Provincial Net Profit
New Brunswick                                                                Total  Traditional Destination

    Traditional Destination

    Traditional Destination

 

 
2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

Gross ticket sales
 

 $168,968 
  

$169,010 $167,301  $167,400 $1,667 $1,610 
Net video lottery receipts  128,034 

  
128,324  -    - 128,034 128,324 

Gross Revenue  297,002 
  
297,334  167,301 167,400 129,701 129,934 

Direct costs  131,347 
 

130,856  105,671 105,461 25,676 25,395 
Gross profit

 
 165,655 166,478  61,630 61,939 104,025 104,539 

Operating and other expenses  45,899 46,745  24,987 28,472 20,912 18,273
Net Profit $119,756 $119,733 $36,643 $33,467 $83,113 $86,266 

Newfoundland and Labrador                                     Total                                             Traditional                                     Destination     

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

Gross ticket sales  $250,050 $229,333  $249,243 
 
$228,543 $807 $790 

Net video lottery receipts  122,797 122,687  -    - 122,797 122,687 
Gross revenue  372,847 352,020  249,243 228,543 123,604 123,477 
Direct costs  200,862 187,553   171,576 158,101 29,286 29,452 
Gross profit  171,985 164,467  77,667 70,442 94,318 94,025 
Operating and other expenses  49,241 50,739  29,738 31,992 19,503 18,747 
Net Profit $122,744 $113,728 $47,929 $38,450 $74,815 $75,278 

Nova Scotia                                                                       Total                                             Traditional                                     Destination

2014

  

2013 2014

  

2013 2014 2013

Gross ticket sales  $217,537 $214,025 $216,647 $213,225 $890 $800
Net video lottery receipts  105,888  113,872  -    - 105,888 113,872 
Gross revenue

 

 323,425 327,897  216,647 213,225 106,778 114,672  
Direct costs  160,183 159,216  138,309 136,395 21,874 22,821  
Gross profit  163,242 168,681  78,338 76,830 84,904 91,851  
Operating and other expenses  52,668 56,404  32,015 35,913 20,653 20,491

Net Profit $110,574 $112,277 $46,323 $40,917 $64,251 $71,360 

Prince Edward Island                                                     Total

  

 

2014

  

2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

Gross ticket sales $34,732 $34,535 $34,048 $33,873 $684 $662 
Net video lottery receipts 17,335 16,947  -    -   17,335 16,947 
Entertainment centre revenue 19,988 19,320 -    -   19,988 19,320 
Gross revenue

 

72,055 70,802 34,048 33,873 38,007 36,929 
Direct costs

 

30,859 30,523 22,442 22,355 8,417 8,168 
Gross profit

 

41,196 40,279 11,606 11,518 29,590 28,761 
Operating and other expenses 25,880 24,888 6,722 7,154 19,158 17,734

 

Net Profit $15,316 $15,391 $4,884 $4,364  $10,432 $11,027 

Corporate Total                                                                Total

  

 

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

Gross ticket sales $671,287 $646,903 $667,239 $643,041  $4,048   $3,862
Net video lottery receipts 374,054 

  

381,830 -    - 374,054 381,830
Entertainment centre revenue 19,988 19,320 -    - 19,988 19,320
Gross revenue 1,065,329 1,048,053  667,239 643,041  398,090 405,012
Direct costs 523,251 508,148  437,998 422,312 85,253 85,836
Gross profit 542,078 539,905  229,241 220,729  312,837 319,176
Operating and other expenses 173,688 178,776  93,462 103,531  80,226 75,245
Net Profit  $368,390 $361,129  $135,779 $117,198  $232,611 $243,931

* This table is based on Atlantic Lottery’s non-consolidated financial statements
* Restatement based on the IFRS amended pension standard effective April 1, 2013 (IAS19R). For more see Note 2 in the Audited Financial Statements.

* $ in 000’s
* Figures are rounded

Restated Restated Restated

Restated Restated Restated

Restated Restated Restated

Restated Restated Restated

Restated Restated Restated



 

2013-2014 2012-2013

NB 119,756 119,733
Restated

NL 122,744 113,728
NS 110,574 112,277
PE 15,316 15,391

FINANCIAL DISCUSSION

The 2013-14 �scal year was successful for Atlantic 
Lottery. With our mandate to give back to Atlantic 
Canadians in a safe and responsible way, we 
delivered on our commitment by providing 
$368.4M of pro�t back to Atlantic Canada. This 
represents an increase of $7M above the total 
pro�t generated last year. 

While the overall pro�t target was achieved with 
growth over last year, the results are not consistent 
across the four provinces. Newfoundland and 
Labrador delivered a signi�cant increase of $9M 
over last year, both New Brunswick and Prince 
Edward Island remained relatively �at while Nova 
Scotia’s pro�t fell $1.7M over last year. The two 
main factors contributing to this level of pro�t 
were the strong economy re�ected in Newfound-
land and Labrador and the softening of video 
lottery experienced in New Brunswick and 
Nova Scotia.

Provincial Pro�t

 

Sales

To generate this level of pro�t, 2013-14 experienced 
an increase of $17M in sales over last year, ending 
with $1,065M in total sales. Our ticket lottery line of 
business grew over the previous year, with sales 
increases across all product lines. 

Of speci�c note is the growth of Scratch’N Win, with 
2013-14 sales reaching the $200M sales mark. This 
represents an increase of $11.5M over last year. 
Not to be outperformed, our national draw games, 
regional draw games, sports products and break- 
open games followed suit with a combined sales 
total of $464M, representing an increase of more 
than $13.2M over last year.

While the Traditional ticket lottery line of 
business demonstrated solid growth in 2013-14, 
in fact in many categories nation-leading, the 
Destination line of business experienced a year- 
over-year decline of $7.5M, ending at the $378M 
mark. This provided a challenge to Atlantic Lottery’s 
overall pro�t target given the signi�cant gross 
margin contribution delivered through the sales 
of the video lottery product group. 

The factors contributing to the decline can be 
traced back to the player behaviour trends related 
to the MyPlay program in Nova Scotia, its impact 
on player participation, and softness in the New 
Brunswick market. All provinces were also impacted 
by extreme weather that contributed to reduced 
tra�c at the retail sites. 

However, we are con�dent the new video lottery 
program with updated terminals, a comprehensive 
responsible gaming suite, new games and an 
enhanced central management system that will 
be rolled out in 2014-15 will play a critical role in 
the turnaround in this line of business.

The eGaming line of business, which includes the 
sale of games available at retail as well as Internet 
only products, delivered sales of $19.2M. eGaming 
continues to demonstrate growth, as demonstrated 
by the $1.1M increase in sales over last year. As a 
currently modest, but critically important line of 
business, eGaming products will continue to be 
supported with promotional activities designed 
to create a positive experience for our players. 

The Red Shores operations in Charlottetown and 
Summerside showed moderate year-over-year sales 
growth of $668K, ending the year with total sales 
of $19.9M. Increases in the food and beverage area, 
racing and the recently introduced Blackjack tables 
contributed to the successful year for Red Shores. 
It is expected that Red Shores will maintain this 
positive sales trend in 2014-15.

Distributions

With every dollar of net pro�t going back to the 
four shareholders, the distribution of Atlantic 
Lottery revenue can be categorized into six broad 
areas; Winners, Pro�t, Operations, Taxes, Salaries, 
Retailers. 

This distribution continues to demonstrate Atlantic 
Lottery’s commitment to Atlantic Canadians by 
returning 89% of the revenue generated within 
the four Atlantic Provinces.  

 

36%35%

11% 11%

Pro�ts Winners

Retailers

4%
Salaries

3%
Taxes

Operations
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TECHNOLOGY DISCUSSION

Atlantic Lottery is a very technology intensive 
organization. Presently we process up to two million 
transactions per day and provide the greatest 
integrity and assurance to our players that all games 
are conducted with the highest degree of fairness 
and safety. Equally important is ensuring player 
information protection and security.  Many of our 
technology decisions – current and future – are 
guided by these essential elements. 

Data and player security, especially in the emerging 
online internet markets, is paramount to the organi-
zation. In addition to the transactional technology 
that is in place, our products rely upon continued 
technology investment to keep the games fresh 
and interesting. As new devices emerge with greatly 
enhanced capabilities, our player expectations grow. 
This creates an exciting challenge to Atlantic Lottery 
to o�er relevant and entertaining products, and to 
be able to launch new games quickly. This also 
includes greatly improving the user experience 
via our web delivery.

Atlantic Lottery has several project streams 
of technology renewal and modernization under-
way. There is presently an Enterprise Resource 
Planning Software System project in progress with 
an investment of approximately $20M over the next 
two �scal years. This focusses on support systems 
like �nance, supply chain, and business intelligence. 

Additionally, our gaming systems initiatives for 
retail, online and mobile are being planned with an 
expected investment range of $25M to $30M which 
will be managed over the next two to three years. 
Atlantic Lottery looks forward to showcasing the 
bene�ts of these initiatives to our players in the 
near future.

At Atlantic Lottery, we believe that it is through the 
strength of our employees that we deliver business 
results. We are proud of our accomplishments in 
2013-14 and how we contributed to making this 
region we call home a better place. 

At the end of our �scal year, we employed 624 
employees across the four Atlantic provinces and 
we were able to achieve our retention rate target 
of 88%.

We strive to ensure that employees de�ne their 
work experience at Atlantic Lottery as the best of 
their career. One of the ways we measure this work 
experience is through employee engagement 
surveys conducted throughout the year, which 
resulted in a score of 66%. There is room for 
improvement and to support increased levels of 
engagement, we’ve made a commitment to focus 
on the drivers that employees told us would 
improve their engagement. 

As a result, 2014-15 will see us continuing to 
provide employees with career opportunities, 
an emphasis on managing performance, and 
improving work processes. 

To support employees, engagement, and 
business success, we believe in investing in our 
employees through learning and development 
opportunities. We were proud to celebrate our 
�rst graduating class of 27 employees from our 
Advanced Leadership Development Program, a 
program designed to improve the e�ectiveness
of our leaders. Graduates reported an overall 
satisfaction rate of 92% with the program. 

Corporate Social Responsibility is a point of pride 
for employees who are collectively committed to 
delivering responsible gambling entertainment 
products to our players. To support that commit-
ment, Atlantic Lottery has a comprehensive 
Employee Social Responsibility Certi�cation 
program. One hundred percent of our employees 
have completed their certi�cation. Having covered 
the global view of CSR and the corporate view, 
the program continues to evolve. The most recent 
e�orts are more grass roots, aimed at helping 
employees understand their individual roles in 
supporting CSR and the role their teams and 
departments play.  

Our Wellness Program, in its third year of operation, 
continued to hit the mark with employees in all four 
Atlantic Provinces as we reached a 43% participa-
tion rate. Among our participants there is less sick 
time compared to non-participants, a decrease in 
the use of �ve of the top 10 prescribed drugs and 
the loss of 269 inches and more than 230 pounds. 
The program consists of four pillars: physical 
activity, healthy eating, psychological wellness 
and tobacco-free living. This year marked the 
launch of a smoking cessation program and the 
focus for 2014-15 is evolving our psychological 
wellness pillar, a growing workplace concern. 

Employees are critical to the successful execution 
of our strategy and achievement of our goals. 
To ensure we continue to be a competitive player 
in this crowded commercial environment, we will 
continue to evolve our people programs and 
training to best support the employee experience 
and our future business needs.

ORGANIZATIONAL DEVELOPMENT DISCUSSION

Management Discussion and Analysis   continued
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CONCLUSION

The �scal year 2013-2014 was a year where Atlantic 
Lottery experienced both sales and pro�t growth, 
and where strength was demonstrated in all areas 
of the ticket lottery business. While a decline was 
experienced in the video lottery business, the 
delivery of an updated central system, terminals 
and game software in 2014-15 will provide the 
necessary levers to reach new levels of pro�tability. 

Over the next several years, growing net pro�t 
from our core business will continue to be a priority. 
We are beginning a long-term plan based on 
technology rejuvenation with the implementation 
of new business and gaming technology. This 
technology roadmap will lay the foundation for 
our growth. 

In addition, we are reviewing how we engage with 
our service providers and third-party vendors to 
deliver our products to our players. The result will 
be a continuous improvement of our business 
operations and the types of products we deliver 
to Atlantic Canadians. 

This strategy of technology innovation will facilitate 
our ability to move quickly to market with the 
games, services, access and social responsibility 
features that our players deserve. 

Our technology enhancements, organizational 
e�ectiveness and ongoing people development 
will allow us to implement the 2014-2015 business 
strategy, driving positive results that will bene�t 
all Atlantic Canadians.

Management Discussion and Analysis   continued
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 
 
 
 

To the Shareholders of 
Atlantic Lottery Corporation Inc. 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Atlantic 
Lottery Corporation Inc., which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 
March 31, 2014 and the consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive 
income, changes in deficiency and cash flows for the year then ended, and a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 
 
Management's responsibility for the consolidated financial statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditors’ responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial 
statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we 
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free 
from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the 
amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks 
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal 
control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our audit opinion.  
 
Opinion 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of Atlantic Lottery Corporation Inc. as at 
March 31, 2014, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then 
ended, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 

 
 
Saint John, Canada,  
June 4, 2014 Chartered Accountants 
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ATLANTIC LOTTERY CORPORATION INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
YEAR ENDED MARCH 31
[In thousands of dollars]

2014 2013
 (Restated) 

Revenue
Gross ticket sales 671,286$                 646,903$                 
Net video lottery receipts 374,053                   381,830                   
Entertainment centre revenue 19,988                     19,320                     

1,065,327                1,048,053                

Prizes on ticket sales 384,294                   367,723                   
Net revenue 681,033                   680,330                   

Direct expenses
Commissions 122,534                   122,515                   
Ticket printing 10,804                     13,050                     
Other direct cost [note 10] 5,620                       4,860                       

138,958                   140,425                   

Gross profit 542,075                   539,905                   

Expenses
Operating and administrative expenses 111,294                   116,137                   
Depreciation, amortization and impairment [notes 9 and 10] 29,884                     30,585                     
Interest [notes 11, 15 and 16] 4,224                       3,575                       

145,402                   150,297                   

Profit before the following 396,673                   389,608                   

Other expenses (income) (3,493)                     (3,020)                     
Taxes [note 22] 27,296                     27,213                     
Payments to the Government of Canada [note 21] 4,433                       4,355                       

28,236                     28,548                     

Net profit 368,437$                 361,060$                 

See accompanying notes
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ATLANTIC LOTTERY CORPORATION INC.

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31
[In thousands of dollars]

2014 2013
 (Restated) 

Net profit 368,437$                 361,060$                 

Other comprehensive income (loss)
Other comprehensive income to retained earnings (not to be  reclassified to 
Statement of Operations in subsequent years)
Variation of the employee future benefit liability
    Variation during the year [note 18] 19,650                     (16,821)                   

Other comprehensive income to accumulated other comprehensive income (to be 
reclassified to Statement of Operations in subsequent years)
Mark-to-market gains on derivative instruments designated and qualifying as cash 
flow hedges
    Variation during the year [note 17] 3,495                       77                            
Other comprehensive income (loss) 23,145                     (16,744)                   

Comprehensive income 391,582$                 344,316$                 

See accompanying notes

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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ATLANTIC LOTTERY CORPORATION INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN DEFICIENCY
AS AT MARCH 31
[In thousands of dollars]

Share 
capital

Accumulated other 
comprehensive 

income (loss) Deficit

Total 
shareholders' 

deficiency

Balance, beginning of year 1$             (2,527)$                     (62,645)$         (65,171)$           

Net profit -           -                            368,437          368,437            
Other comprehensive income (loss) -           3,495                        19,650            23,145              
Comprehensive income -           3,495                        388,087          391,582            

Distribution of profit to shareholders [note 14]
  New Brunswick Lotteries and Gaming Corporation -           -                            (117,571)         (117,571)           
  Province of Newfoundland and Labrador -           -                            (120,592)         (120,592)           
  Nova Scotia Provincial Lotteries and Casino Corporation -           -                            (107,794)         (107,794)           
  Prince Edward Island Lotteries Commission -           -                            (14,208)          (14,208)             
Total profit allocated to shareholders -           -                            (360,165)         (360,165)           
Dividends paid -           -                            (150)               (150)                  
Balance, end of year 1$             968$                         (34,873)$         (33,904)$           

Share 
capital

Accumulated other 
comprehensive 

income (loss) Deficit

Total 
shareholders' 

deficiency

Balance, beginning of year 1$             (2,604)$                     (44,189)$         (46,792)$           

Net profit -           -                            361,060          361,060            
Other comprehensive income (loss) -           77                             (16,821)          (16,744)             
Comprehensive income -           77                             344,239          344,316            

Distribution of profit to shareholders [note 14]
  New Brunswick Lotteries and Gaming Corporation -           -                            (120,140)         (120,140)           
  Province of Newfoundland and Labrador -           -                            (114,149)         (114,149)           
  Nova Scotia Provincial Lotteries and Casino Corporation -           -                            (112,761)         (112,761)           
  Prince Edward Island Lotteries Commission -           -                            (15,645)          (15,645)             
Total profit allocated to shareholders -           -                            (362,695)         (362,695)           
Balance, end of year 1$             (2,527)$                     (62,645)$         (65,171)$           

See accompanying notes

2014

2013
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ATLANTIC LOTTERY CORPORATION INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED MARCH 31
[In thousands of dollars]

2014 2013

Cash provided by (used for)

Operating activities
Net profit 368,437$                 361,060$                 
Add non-cash items:
  Depreciation and amortization [notes 9 and 10] 32,217                     29,339                     
  Loss on disposal of property and equipment 1,376                       1,868                       
  Impairment of long-lived assets [notes 9 and 10] 500                          3,636                       
  Increase in cash flow hedge (969)                        -                              
  Other comprehensive income (loss) 23,145                     (16,744)                   

424,706                   379,159                   

Net change in non-cash components of working capital [note 24] 15,392                     (11,271)                   
Increase (decrease) in employee future benefits (22,737)                   13,629                     

417,361                   381,517                   

Investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment (17,776)                   (86,276)                   
Purchase of intangibles (14,564)                   (24,016)                   
Proceeds on disposal of property and equipment 1,148                       414                          

(31,192)                   (109,878)                 

Financing activities
Decrease in line of credit (4,120)                     (18,326)                   
Proceeds of long-term debt 200,862                   267,829                   
Repayment of long-term debt (218,966)                 (155,105)                 
Repayment of long-term lease payable (3,038)                     (2,932)                     
Increase (decrease) in other long-term liabilities (2,652)                     555                          
Dividends paid to shareholders (150)                        -                              

(28,064)                   92,021                     

Distribution to shareholders [note 14] (360,165)                 (362,695)                 

Increase (decrease) in cash (2,060)                     965                          

Cash, beginning of year 25,468                     24,503                     

Cash, end of year [note 5] 23,408$                   25,468$                   

See accompanying notes
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS 
 
Atlantic Lottery Corporation Inc. [“the Corporation”] was incorporated under the Canada Business Corporations 
Act on September 3, 1976.  The Corporation’s shareholders are the New Brunswick Lotteries and Gaming 
Corporation, Province of Newfoundland and Labrador, Nova Scotia Provincial Lotteries and Casino Corporation, 
and Prince Edward Island Lotteries Commission.  The registered office of the Corporation is located at 922 Main 
Street in Moncton, New Brunswick, Canada. 
 
The profit of the Corporation is distributed twice monthly to each of the shareholders.  The distribution to each 
province consists of the calculated profit in each province as determined by the Amended and Restated Unanimous 
Shareholders’ Agreement. 
 
The Corporation has been appointed to undertake, conduct and manage lotteries by and on behalf of the provinces of 
New Brunswick, Newfoundland and Labrador and Prince Edward Island.  The Corporation has been appointed to 
operate lotteries in the province of Nova Scotia by the Nova Scotia Provincial Lotteries and Casino Corporation 
[“NSPLCC”].  
 
The Corporation has entered into a formal operating agent agreement [“Agreement”] with NSPLCC that requires the 
Corporation to obtain the prior approval of NSPLCC before making certain changes related to lottery schemes in 
Nova Scotia.  The Agreement provides that all assets acquired by the Corporation exclusively for the operation of 
lotteries in Nova Scotia are held by the Corporation in trust for and on behalf of NSPLCC, and that all liabilities 
incurred to acquire those assets are also the liabilities of NSPLCC. In the case of the Agreement being cancelled, the 
Corporation has a 24 month period to transfer all assets and liabilities related to the lottery schemes in Nova Scotia 
to NSPLCC. However, these assets and liabilities related to the Nova Scotia lottery activities are included on the 
Corporation’s consolidated balance sheet, because NSPLCC does not have the intent to cancel the Agreement and 
therefore the Corporation’s expectation is that the economic benefit of all the acquired assets will stay with the 
Corporation over their entire useful lives. 
 
The Corporation has conduct and manage agent agreements with the provinces of New Brunswick, Newfoundland 
and Labrador and Prince Edward Island which include similar provisions. Also, these provinces currently do not 
have the intent to cancel the agreements and therefore all assets and liabilities related to the lottery operations in 
these provinces are also recorded with the same assumption in the Corporation’s consolidated financial statements.  
 
The Articles of Incorporation restrict the number of shareholders to four and any invitations to the public to 
subscribe for securities of the Corporation are prohibited.  Because of these restrictions, the Corporation manages 
capital through working capital and debt to ensure sufficient liquidity to manage current and future operations.  The 
acquisition of debt requires the approval of the Corporation’s Board of Directors and NSPLCC. 
 
The Corporation is also restricted under the Gaming Control Acts of each province for the management of prize 
funds.  The Corporation is required to maintain cash on hand equivalent to the amount of prize liabilities 
outstanding. 
 
2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Basis of preparation 
The consolidated financial statements of the Corporation for the year ended March 31, 2014 were authorized for 
issue by the Board of Directors on June 5, 2014. 
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2.   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES [Continued] 
 
Basis of measurement  
These consolidated financial statements were prepared on a going concern basis, under the historical cost basis, 
except for derivative financial instruments that have been measured at fair value.  
 
Statement of compliance 
The consolidated financial statements of the Corporation and its subsidiaries [collectively, the “Corporation”] for the 
year ended March 31, 2014 have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
[“IFRS”] and interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board [“IASB”].  
 
The Corporation’s consolidated financial statements for the periods up to and including the year ended March 31, 
2011 were previously prepared based on Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.   
 
Functional and presentation currency 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Corporation’s functional 
currency. All dollar values are rounded to the nearest thousandth dollar ($’000), except for per share amounts.  
 
Basis of consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Corporation and its wholly owned subsidiaries, 
Atlantic Gaming Equipment Limited, 7865813 Canada Inc., and 8157154 Canada Inc.  The financial statements of 
the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the consolidated financial statements of the 
Corporation, using consistent accounting policies.  
 
The subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date at which the Corporation obtains 
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. 
 
All intra-Corporation balances, transactions, income and expenses, and profits and losses, including dividends 
resulting from intra-Corporation transactions, are eliminated in full. 
 
Inventory  
Inventory consists of lottery tickets [Scratch’N Win and Breakopen], and food and beverage consumables. Inventory 
is valued at the lower of cost, determined on an average cost basis, and net realizable value.  Costs incurred in 
bringing each product to its present location and condition are accounted for as purchase costs on an average cost 
basis.  
 
Property and equipment 
Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and/or accumulated impairment losses, if 
any. Historical cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets. Subsequent 
costs are included in an asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is 
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Corporation and the cost of the item 
can be measured reliably.  All other repair and maintenance expenses are charged to the consolidated statement of 
operations as incurred. Borrowing costs related to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, 
are capitalized. 
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2.   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES [Continued] 
Land and assets not ready for use are not depreciated.  Depreciation on other assets is charged to the consolidated 
statement of operations based on cost, less estimated residual value, on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful 
lives of the assets.  The Corporation is using the following useful lives for the different asset categories: 
 
Asset Useful life 
Building  10 to 50 years 
Automotive 3 to 4 years 
Operational and gaming equipment 2 to 15 years  
Finance lease Lease term 
Leasehold improvements Lease term 
 
If the costs of a certain component of property and equipment are significant in relation to the total cost of the item, 
these costs are accounted for and depreciated separately. 

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed annually, and adjusted 
prospectively, if appropriate.  

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected 
from its use or disposal.  Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between 
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the consolidated statement of 
operations in the year the asset is derecognized. 

Pre-opening costs are expensed to the consolidated statement of operations as incurred. 
 
Intangible assets 

Intangible assets acquired separately 
Acquired intangible assets are primarily software, patents and licenses on technologies.  Intangible assets acquired 
separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment losses. Amortization is charged to the 
consolidated statement of operations on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows:  
 
Asset Useful life 
Software licenses  3 to 14 years 
Computer software 3 to 14 years 
Gaming software 3 to 7 years 
Finance lease Lease term  
 
The Corporation only has intangible assets acquired with a finite useful life. The estimated useful lives and 
amortization methods are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, with the effect of any changes in 
estimates being accounted for on a prospective basis. The amortization expense on intangible assets with finite lives 
is recognized in the consolidated statement of operations in the expense category consistent with the function of the 
intangible asset.  Intangible assets not ready for use are not amortized. 

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the consolidated statement of 
operations when the asset is derecognized. 
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2.   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES [Continued] 
 
Internally generated intangible assets - research and development expenditures 
Expenditure on research activities is recognized as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.  Development 
costs relating primarily to the development of new gaming or lottery software or internet web sites used for purposes 
of selling the Corporation’s services are recognized as an intangible asset when the Corporation can demonstrate 
that the following conditions required by International Accounting Standards (“IAS”) 38, Intangible Assets are met: 
 

• the asset is identifiable and will generate expected future economic benefits; and 
• the cost can be determined reliably. 

 
The amount initially recognized for internally generated intangible assets is the sum of the acquisition and 
manufacturing costs that can be directly attributed to the development process as well as a reasonable portion of the 
development-related fixed costs.  If the internally generated intangible asset does not meet the conditions of IAS 38, 
the development expenditure is recognized in profit or loss in the period during which it was incurred.  Subsequent 
to initial recognition, internally generated intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortization and 
accumulated impairment losses. Amortization of the asset begins when the development is complete and the asset is 
available for use. It is amortized over the period of expected future benefit on a straight-line basis. The current 
useful lives applied are as follows: 
 
Asset Useful life 
Software licenses  3 to 14 years 
Computer software 3 to 14 years 
Gaming software 3 to 7 years 
 
During the period of development, the intangible asset is tested for impairment annually.   
 
Borrowing costs 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that takes a substantial 
period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalized as part of the cost of the respective assets.  All 
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period during which they occur.  Borrowing costs consist of interest and 
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.  
 
The Corporation capitalized borrowing costs for all eligible assets where construction was commenced on or after 
April 1, 2010, as this is the Corporation’s transition date to IFRS.  The Corporation expensed borrowing costs 
relating to construction projects that commenced prior to April 1, 2010. 
 
Leases 
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at 
inception date: whether fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or the 
arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.  
 
Corporation as a lessee 
Finance leases, which transfer to the Corporation substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of 
the leased item, are capitalized at the commencement of the lease at the lower of fair value of the leased property or, 
if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments.  Lease payments are apportioned between finance 
charges and reduction of the lease liability to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability. Finance charges are recognized in the consolidated statement of operations.  
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2.   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES [Continued] 
Leased assets are depreciated on the same basis as owned assets over the useful lives of the assets.  However, if 
there is no reasonable certainty that the Corporation will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset is 
depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life and the lease term.   

Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in the consolidated statement of operations on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term. 
 
Impairment of financial assets 
The Corporation assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any 
indication exists, the Corporation estimates the asset’s fair market value. An asset’s fair market value can be 
measured via recent market transactions or discounted cash flow model. If the fair market value is lower than the 
enterprise value of the asset, impairment of that amount exists.   
 
Impairment losses are recognized in the consolidated statement of operations in those expense categories consistent 
with the function of the impaired asset. 
 
Impairment of non-financial assets 
The Corporation assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any 
indication exists, the Corporation estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the 
higher of the fair value of an asset or cash-generating unit (“CGU”) less costs to sell, and its value in use.  It is 
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of 
those from other assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is 
considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs to sell, an 
appropriate valuation model is used.  

Impairment losses are recognized in the consolidated statement of operations in those expense categories consistent 
with the function of the impaired asset. 

For previously impaired assets, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication 
that previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, 
the Corporation estimates the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount. A previously recognized impairment loss is 
reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since 
the last impairment loss was recognized. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not 
exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognized in the 
consolidated statement of operations.  
 
Provisions 
Provisions are recognized when the Corporation has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, and the costs to settle the obligation are both probable and able to be reliably measured. Where the Corporation 
expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is 
recognized as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any 
provision is presented in the consolidated statement of operations net of any reimbursement. If the effect of the time 
value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the 
risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is 
recognized as a finance cost. The Corporation has recorded provisions for sick leave and asset decommissioning.  
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2.   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES [Continued] 
 
Pensions and other post-employment benefits 
The Corporation participates in a multiple-employer defined benefit contributory pension plan. The Corporation also 
provides certain post-employment healthcare benefits, long service awards, life insurance and ad-hoc supplementary 
pensions.  

The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plans is determined separately for each plan using the 
projected unit credit method. Actuarial gains and losses are recognized as income or expense in other comprehensive 
income immediately in the period when they occur. 

The past service costs are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the average period until the benefits 
become vested. If the benefits have already vested, immediately following the introduction of, or changes to, a 
pension plan, past service costs are recognized immediately. 

The defined benefit asset or liability comprises the present value of the defined benefit obligation (using a discount 
rate based on high quality corporate bonds, as explained in note 18 less past service costs and (for the pension 
obligation) less the fair value of plan assets, out of which the obligations are to be settled. Plan assets are not 
available to the creditors of the Corporation, nor can they be paid directly to the Corporation. Fair value is based on 
market price information and, in the case of quoted securities, is the published bid price. The value of any defined 
benefit asset recognized is restricted to the sum of any past service costs and the present value of any economic 
benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in the future contributions to the plan. 
 
Effective April 1, 2013, the Corporation adopted the amended IAS 19, Employee Benefits standard. This standard 
requires that the interest component of the annual defined benefit cost be determined by applying the high quality 
corporate bond rate to the net defined benefit liability. Previously, this component of the annual defined benefit cost 
was determined by applying the high quality corporate bond rate to the gross defined benefit liability. Also, the 
expected return on plan assets, based on market expectations, was separately determined and offset against the 
annual benefit costs. 
 
This change in accounting policy has been applied retrospectively in accordance with the standard’s transitional 
provisions.  
 
The impact of adopting this standard for the year ended March 31, 2013 is a decrease to net profit of $1,566 and an 
increase to other comprehensive income of $1,566. 
 
Financial instruments  
Initial recognition and measurement 
The Corporation at initial recognition designates its financial assets either as (i) financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss, (ii) loans and receivables, or as (iii) available for sale.  Financial liabilities are classified as (i) fair 
value through profit or loss, (ii) financial liabilities at amortized cost, or as (iii) derivatives designated as hedging 
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. All financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus, 
in the case of financial assets not recognized at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction 
costs. 

The Corporation’s financial assets include cash, restricted prize cash, accounts receivable, due from shareholders, 
and investments. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES [Continued] 

The Corporation’s financial liabilities include line of credit, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, liabilities for 
unclaimed prizes, due to shareholders, long-term debt, long-term lease payable and other long-term liabilities, 
including derivative instruments.  
 
Subsequent measurement of financial assets 
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification, as follows: 
 

i. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading and financial assets 
designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as held for 
trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. This category includes 
derivative financial instruments entered into by the Corporation that are not designated as hedging instruments in 
hedge relationships as defined by IAS 39, Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified 
as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the consolidated balance sheet at fair value with 
changes in fair value recognized in other expenses (income) or interest expense in the consolidated statement of 
operations. 

The Corporation has not designated any financial assets upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or 
loss. 
 

ii. Loans and receivables 
 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market. After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost using  
the effective interest rate method (“EIR”), less impairment. The losses arising from impairment are recognized in the 
consolidated statement of operations in depreciation and impairment expense.  
 
Securities in this category include cash, restricted prize cash, accounts receivable, and due from shareholders.   
 

iii. Available for sale 
 
Securities classified as available for sale are non-derivative financial assets that are initially designated as available 
for sale or that are not classified in the fair value through profit or loss or loans and receivables categories.  
 
Gains and losses resulting from changes in fair value, except for impairment losses are recognized in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income under net unrealized gains/(losses) on available for sale securities 
until the financial asset is derecognized. 

Securities in this category include investments.  
 
Derecognition 
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 
derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or the Corporation has transferred its 
rights to receive cash flows from the asset.  
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES [Continued] 
 
Impairment of financial assets 
The Corporation assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a 
group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and 
only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that have occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss event”) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash 
flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment 
may include indications that the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default 
or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganization and, where observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash 
flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults. 
 
For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the Corporation first assesses individually whether objective evidence 
of impairment exists, individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial 
assets that are not individually significant. If the Corporation determines that no objective evidence of impairment 
exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of 
financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are 
individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognized are not 
included in a collective assessment of impairment. 

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding 
future expected credit losses that have not yet been incurred).  
 
Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities 
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as follows: 
 

i. Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss includes financial liabilities held for trading and financial 
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. 
This category includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Corporation that are not designated as 
hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by IAS 39.  

Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognized in the consolidated statement of operations. The 
Corporation has not designated any financial liabilities upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. 
 

ii. Financial liabilities at amortized cost 
 

After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortized cost using 
the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognized in the consolidated statement of operations when the liabilities are 
derecognized as well as through the EIR amortization process. 

Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are 
an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included in other expenses (income) in the consolidated 
statement of operations. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES [Continued] 
Financial liabilities classified in this category include line of credit, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, 
liabilities for unclaimed prizes, due to shareholder, long-term debt, and long-term lease payable.  
 

iii. Derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge 
 

The Corporation uses derivative financial instruments such as interest rate swaps to hedge its risks associated with 
interest rate fluctuations. Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value on the date on 
which a derivative contract is entered into and is subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as 
assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative. 

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value on derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are 
taken directly to net profit or loss for the year. 

The fair value of interest rate swap contracts is determined by reference to market values for similar instruments. At 
the inception of a hedge relationship, the Corporation formally designates and documents the hedge relationship to 
which it wishes to apply hedge accounting and the risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the 
hedge. The documentation includes identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the 
nature of the risk being hedged and how the entity will assess the hedging instrument’s effectiveness in offsetting 
the exposure to changes in the hedged item’s fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk. 
Such hedges are expected to be highly effective in achieving offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows and are 
assessed on an ongoing basis to determine that they actually have been highly effective throughout the financial 
reporting periods for which they were designated. 

Interest rate swaps when hedging exposure to variability in cash flows that is either attributable to a particular risk 
associated with a recognized asset or liability or highly probable forecast transactions are classified as cash flow 
hedges. The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognized directly in other 
comprehensive income, while the ineffective portion is recognized in the consolidated statement of operations in 
other expenses (income).  

Amounts taken to other comprehensive income are transferred to the consolidated statement of operations when the 
hedged transaction affects profit or loss, such as when the hedged financial income or financial expense is 
recognized or when a forecast sale or purchase occurs.  

If the forecasted transaction or firm commitment is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss 
previously recognized in equity is transferred to the consolidated statement of operations. If the hedging instrument 
expires or is sold, terminated or exercised without replacement or rollover, or if its designation as a hedge is 
revoked, any cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in other comprehensive income remains in other 
comprehensive income until the forecast transaction or firm commitment affects profit or loss.  

The Corporation uses interest rate swaps to hedge the volatility of variable interest payments to a fixed interest rate 
over the term of the respective debt.  

Financial liabilities classified in this category include other long-term liabilities.  
 
Current versus non-current classification 
Derivative instruments that are not designated and effective hedging instruments are classified as current or non-
current or separated into a current and non-current portion based on an assessment of the facts and circumstances 
(i.e., the underlying contracted cash flows). 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES [Continued] 
 

• Where the Corporation will hold a derivative as an economic hedge (and does not apply hedge accounting) 
for a period beyond 12 months after the reporting date, the derivative is classified as non-current (or 
separated into current and non-current portions) consistent with the classification of the underlying item. 
 

• Derivative instruments that are designated as, and are effective hedging instruments, are classified 
consistent with the classification of the underlying hedged item. The derivative instrument is separated into 
a current portion and non-current portion only if a reliable allocation can be made. 

 
Derecognition 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. 
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or 
the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a 
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective 
carrying amounts is recognized in the consolidated statement of operations. 
    
Offsetting of financial instruments 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated balance sheet if, 
and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to 
settle on a net basis, or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 
 
Fair value of financial instruments 
The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets at each reporting date is determined by 
reference to quoted market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short 
positions), without any deduction for transaction costs. 
 
For financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using appropriate valuation 
techniques. Such techniques may include using recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current fair 
value of another instrument that is substantially the same; discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation models. 
 
Revenue recognition  
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Corporation and 
the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received, excluding 
discounts, free tickets and pari-mutuel commissions. The Corporation assesses its revenue arrangements against 
specific criteria in order to determine if it is acting as the principal or agent. The Corporation has concluded that it is  
acting as principal in all of its revenue arrangements. In each of the revenue categories, the following specific 
recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized: 

Gross ticket sales  

Lottery revenue 
Lottery revenue and the corresponding direct expenses are recognized on the draw date.  Receipts for lottery tickets 
sold before March 31 for draws held subsequent to that date are recorded as deferred revenue.   

Instant ticket revenue 
Revenue from instant ticket games and the corresponding direct expenses are recognized at the time of activation, 
which determines the transfer of legal ownership to the retailer.   

 



Atlantic Lottery Corporation Inc.                                                                                
  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
March 31, 2014                        [thousands of dollars] 
 
 

16 
 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES [Continued] 
Interactive revenue 
Revenue from interactive games and the corresponding direct expense are recognized at the time of play. 

Net video lottery receipts 
Revenue from video lottery and the corresponding direct expenses are recognized at the time of play and are 
recorded net of credits paid out. 
Entertainment centre revenue 
Entertainment centre revenue includes receipts from electronic gaming devices, recorded net of credits paid out at 
the time of play, table games recorded net of payouts at the time of play, and restaurant sales. 

The Corporation operates a loyalty points program at its Entertainment centre, which allows players to accumulate 
points at the time of play. The points can then be redeemed for products. Consideration received is allocated 
between the Entertainment centre revenue and the points issued, with the consideration allocated to the points equal 
to their fair value. The fair value of the points is determined by applying statistical analysis. The fair value of the 
points issued is deferred and recognized as revenue when the points are redeemed. 
 
Prize expense 
Prize expense for draw-based games is recorded based on the actual prize liability experienced for each online game 
at the time of the draw. All obligations for prizes from these drawings are recorded as liabilities for unclaimed prizes 
on the consolidated balance sheet. 
 
Instant ticket prizes are recognized as a percentage of ticket sales in line with the theoretical prize payout for that 
game.  

Video lottery and interactive game prizes are based on the actual prizes won for each individual game, at the point at 
which the sale occurs. 

In addition to cash prizes, the Corporation also awards free tickets.  The value ascribed to these prizes is equal to the 
sale price.  
 
Interest income 
For all financial instruments measured at amortized cost, interest income or expense is recorded using the effective 
interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts through the 
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the 
financial asset or liability. Interest income is included in other income in the consolidated statement of operations. 
 
Sales tax 
As a prescribed registrant, the Corporation makes GST/HST remittances to the Federal Government pursuant to the 
Games of Chance Regulations of the Excise Tax Act.  The Corporation’s net tax for a reporting period is calculated 
using net tax attributable to both gaming and non-gaming activities.  The net tax attributable to gaming activities 
results in a tax burden of two times the GST/HST rate on most taxable gaming expenditures incurred by the 
Corporation [note 22].  HST is paid in New Brunswick, Newfoundland and Labrador, Nova Scotia, and Prince 
Edward Island at their respective HST rates.   
 
The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables 
or payables in the consolidated balance sheet. 
 
Income tax 
The Corporation is owned by the four Atlantic Provincial Governments and is exempt from income tax. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES [Continued] 
 
Payments to the Government of Canada 
Under federal/provincial agreements, the Government of Canada agreed to withdraw from the sale of lottery tickets 
and to refrain from re-entering the field of gaming and betting.  In consideration, all provinces and territories of 
Canada pay $24,000 annually, in 1979 dollars, adjusted by the consumer price index each year [note 21]. 
 
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS 
 
The preparation of the Corporation’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of 
contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting period. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates 
could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in 
future periods. 
 
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date that 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts recognized in the consolidated 
financial statements of the Corporation are discussed below. 
 
Determination of useful lives for tangible and intangible assets 
The Corporation has based the determination of the useful lives for its tangible and intangible assets on a detailed 
review of all empirical data for the different asset classes and also used the knowledge of the appropriate operations 
people to conclude on the useful lives. Furthermore, the Corporation at least annually updates if the current applied 
useful lives are still valid for the different asset classes. Any external or internal changes in the Corporation’s 
environment may result in an impact on the expectation of the useful lives of certain assets and hence a triggering 
event to reconsider the expectation of the useful lives. 
 
Impairment of financial assets 
Impairment exists when the enterprise value of an asset exceeds its fair market value. Fair market value can be 
measured via recent market transactions or discounted cash flow model. The cash flows are derived from the budget 
for the next five years. The recoverable amount is most sensitive to the discount rate used for the discounted cash 
flow model as well as the expected future cash inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes. 
 
Impairment of non-financial assets 
Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher 
of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. The value in use calculation is based on a discounted cash flow 
model. The cash flows are derived from the budget for the next five years and do not include restructuring activities 
that the Corporation is not yet committed to or significant future investments that will enhance the asset’s 
performance of the CGU being tested. The recoverable amount is most sensitive to the discount rate used for the 
discounted cash flow model as well as the expected future cash inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation 
purposes. The key assumptions used to determine the recoverable amount for the different CGU, including a 
sensitivity analysis, are further explained in notes 9 and 10.  
 
Employee future benefits 
The cost of defined benefit pension plans and other post-employment benefits and the present value of the pension 
obligation are determined using actuarial valuations. An actuarial valuation involves making various assumptions. 
These include the determination of the discount rate, future salary increases, mortality rates, the return on the 
investment in the plan assets and future pension increases. Due to the complexity of the valuation, the underlying  
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS [Continued] 
 
assumptions and its long-term nature, a defined benefit obligation is highly sensitive to changes in these 
assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date. Further details about the assumptions used are 
given in note 18. 
 
Development costs 
Development costs are capitalized in accordance with the accounting policy in note 2 “Intangible assets”. Initial 
capitalization of costs is based on management’s judgment that technological and economical feasibility is 
confirmed, usually when a product development project has reached a defined milestone according to an established 
project management model. In determining the amounts to be capitalized, management makes assumptions 
regarding the expected future cash generation of the project, discount rates to be applied and the expected period of 
benefits.  As at March 31, 2014, the amount of capitalized development costs was $12,822 [2013 - $15,555]. 
 
Capitalized development costs are primarily for the customization, implementation and testing of new gaming 
software solutions and of web sites offering to the Corporation’s customers information about games, but also to 
place an order on the web site resulting in revenue for the Corporation. During the development of these new 
gaming software solutions and the revenue orientated web sites, there is some uncertainty, if these tools will be 
finally accepted by the market and will generate sufficient revenue. However, based on the Corporation’s market 
research and review of other markets where these or similar solutions were already implemented, the Corporation’s 
management is confident that the capitalized development costs will result in sufficient future benefits to cover the 
capitalized costs.  
 
Fair value of financial instruments 
Where the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities (especially derivative financial instruments like 
interest rate swaps) recorded on the consolidated balance sheet cannot be derived from active markets, they are 
determined using valuation techniques including the discounted cash flows model. The inputs to these models are 
taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgment is required in 
establishing fair values. The judgments include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and 
volatility. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments. 
 
Revenue recognition – Player Loyalty Program 
The Corporation estimates the fair value of points awarded under the Player Loyalty Program by applying statistical 
techniques. Inputs to the models include making assumptions about expected redemption rates, the mix of products 
that will be available for redemption in the future and customer preferences. Points issued under the program have a 
one year expiration period. As at March 31, 2014, the estimated liability for unredeemed points was approximately 
$6 [2013 - $8]. 
 
4. STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE  
 
Standards issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the Corporation’s consolidated financial 
statements are listed below. This listing of standards and interpretations issued are those that the Corporation 
reasonably expects to have an impact on disclosures, financial position or performance when applied at a future date. 
The Corporation intends to adopt these standards when they become effective. 
 
IFRS 9, Financial Instruments 
IFRS 9 will replace IAS 39. IFRS 9 uses a single approach to determine whether a financial asset is measured at 
amortized cost or fair value, replacing the multiple rules in IAS 39. The approach in IFRS 9 is based on how an  
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4. STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE [Continued] 
 
entity manages its financial instruments in the context of its business model and the contractual cash flow 
characteristics of the financial assets. For hedge accounting, IFRS 9 uses an objectives-based test to determine hedge 
effectiveness, amends how the risk component may be designated as the hedged item and changes the accounting for 
certain costs that can be excluded from the designation of a financial instrument as a hedging item. The Corporation 
is currently evaluating the impact of IFRS 9 on its future financial statements. IFRS 9 was issued by the IASB in 
November 2009 with amendments, primarily relating to hedge accounting, issued in November 2013.  Due to the 
IASB’s continued work on the impairment phase of this standard, there is no mandatory effective date for applying 
IFRS 9, although the standard is available for application now. A mandatory effective date for the full standard will 
be issued when the impairment phase of the IFRS 9 review is completed. The adoption of the first phase of IFRS 9 
will have an effect on the classification and measurement of the Corporation’s financial assets, but will potentially 
have no impact on classification and measurements of financial liabilities. The Corporation will quantify the effect 
in conjunction with the other phases, when issued, to present a comprehensive picture. 
 
IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation  
IAS 32 has been amended to state that a company must have a legally enforceable right to offset net financial assets 
and liabilities in their financial statements. The Corporation has evaluated the impact of IAS 32 and has determined 
that the adoption of this standard is unlikely to have a material effect on the Corporation’s future financial 
statements. The amendment to IAS 32 was issued by the IASB in March 2009 and is effective for years beginning 
on or after January 1, 2014. 
 
5. CASH 
 
Cash is represented by cash on hand and bank balances, less outstanding cheques. 
 

 
 
Pursuant to provincial regulations the Corporation maintains restricted cash accounts in an amount equivalent to 
current game liabilities.  Withdrawals from these accounts are restricted to payment of prizes [note 13]. 
 
Funds held for alc.ca wallets represent funds provided to the Corporation through player wallets on alc.ca. These 
amounts are deposited into a separate bank account and are internally restricted by the Corporation exclusively for 
funding the alc.ca wallet liability. The Corporation has a cash balance of $702 [2013 - $626] to fund player wallets.  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2014 2013
Cash 2,660$      5,127$   
Restricted prize cash        20,748 20,341   
Total cash 23,408$    25,468$ 
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6. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 
 

 
 
Lottery retailers’ receivables are collected on a weekly basis. The Corporation had bad debt expense of $66 [2013 - 
$45] related to lottery retailer receivables.  
 
7. INVENTORY 
 

 
 
During the year, the Corporation recorded inventory write-offs in the amount of $327 [2013 - $604]. 
 
8.   INVESTMENT  
 
The Corporation maintains an equity interest in Geonomics Global Games Limited (previously named Roboreus 
Limited), a privately-owned UK based internet gaming vendor. The investment is classified as available for sale and 
is being carried at cost as there is no quoted price in an active market and fair value cannot be reliably measured.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2014 2013
Lottery retailers 16,734$ 16,877$ 
Taxes receivable 688         6,670     
Other 3,651      3,296     
Total accounts receivable 21,073$ 26,843$ 

2014 2013
Ticket stock 7,037$ 7,499$ 
Food and beverage 123       114      
Total inventory 7,160$ 7,613$ 
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9. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

 
 
During the year, the Corporation carried out a review of the recoverable amount of assets, there was no impairment 
identified [2013 - $196].  The recoverable amount was measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset 
to estimated future cash flows expected to be generated by the CGU. The discount rate utilized was 2.5% per annum 
[2013 - 2.5%]. 
 
As at March 31, 2014, assets classified as not ready for use were strictly related to gaming equipment. 
 
Assets classified as finance lease are comprised of computer hardware and software under long-term lease disclosed 
in note 16.   
 

Land Building Automotive

Operational 
and gaming 

equipment
Finance 

lease
Leasehold 

improvements
Not ready 

for use Total

Cost or valuation:
As at March 31, 2012 1,807$   22,160$   3,180$        170,925$     5,120$   7,345$             9$            210,546$    
Additions -             5              753             57,587         -             1,093               27,204     86,642        
Transfers -             1              -                  (3,822)          -             1,806               (2,362)      (4,377)        
Disposals -             -               (1,275)         (351)             -             (828)                 -               (2,454)        
As at March 31, 2013 1,807     22,166     2,658          224,339       5,120     9,416               24,851     290,357      
Additions -             21            -                  8,542          -             13                   9,200      17,776      
Transfers -             -               -                  3,686          -             -                       (3,037)     649            
Disposals -             (126)        (617)           (73,928)      -             -                       -               (74,671)     
As at March 31, 2014 1,807$ 22,061$ 2,041$      162,639$   5,120$ 9,429$           31,014$ 234,111$ 

Depreciation and impairment:
As at March 31, 2012 -$           7,394$     1,446$        132,829$     2,275$   5,555$             -$             149,499$    
Depreciation for the year -             937          451             12,990         1,366     608                  -               16,352        
Impairment -             -               -                  196              -             -                       -               196             
Transfers -             -               -                  (536)             -             363                  -               (173)           
Disposals -             -               (901)            (305)             -             (795)                 -               (2,001)        
As at March 31, 2013 -             8,331       996             145,174       3,641     5,731               -               163,873      
Depreciation for the year -             922         457            17,093        1,365    618                 -               20,455      
Impairment -             -               -                  -                   -             -                       -               -                 
Transfers -             -               -                  -                   -             -                       -               -                 
Disposals -             (96)          (421)           (71,794)      -             -                       -               (72,311)     
As at March 31, 2014 -$          9,157$    1,032$      90,473$     5,006$ 6,349$           -$             112,017$ 

Net book value:
As at March 31, 2014 1,807$ 12,904$ 1,009$      72,166$     114$     3,080$           31,014$ 122,094$ 
As at March 31, 2013 1,807$   13,835$   1,662$        79,165$       1,479$   3,685$             24,851$   126,484$    
As at March 31, 2012 1,807$   14,766$   1,734$        38,096$       2,845$   1,790$             9$            61,047$      
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10.   INTANGIBLES 
 

 
 
The above includes internally developed additions of $986 [2013 - $969], transfers of nil [2013 - nil], impairments 
of nil [2013 - $140], and disposals of ($269) [2013 - ($635)]. 
 
During the year, the Corporation carried out a review of the recoverable amount of intangibles which led to the 
recognition of an impairment loss of $500 [2013 - $3,440].  The recoverable amount was measured by a comparison 
of the carrying amount of an asset to estimated future cash flows expected to be generated by the CGU. The discount 
rate utilized was 2.5% per annum [2013 - 2.5%]. 
 

Software 
licenses

Computer 
software

Gaming 
software

Finance 
lease

Not ready 
for use Total 

Cost:
As at March 31, 2012 61,103$   4,338$      16,193$   6,762$   9,032$     97,428$      
Additions 575          15             8,095       366        14,965     24,016        
Transfers 5,393       -               4,301       -             (5,395)      4,299          
Disposals (638)         -               -               -             (1,705)      (2,343)        
As at March 31, 2013 66,433     4,353        28,589     7,128     16,897     123,400      
Additions 381         31            1,742      -             12,410    14,564      
Transfers (33)          1,978      215         -             (2,809)     (649)          
Disposals -               (1,252)     (1,116)     -             (69)          (2,437)       
As at March 31, 2014 66,781$ 5,110$    29,430$ 7,128$ 26,429$ 134,878$ 

Amortization and impairment
As at March 31, 2012 31,689$   2,544$      13,501$   2,275$   1,118$     51,127$      
Amortization 8,695       320           2,390       1,582     -               12,987        
Impairment (recovery) 3,808       -               -               -             (368)         3,440          
Transfers -               -               93            -             -               93               
Disposals (512)         -               -               -             -               (512)           
As at March 31, 2013 43,680     2,864        15,984     3,857     750          67,135        
Amortization 6,863      483          2,500      1,582    -               11,428      
Impairment (recovery) -               -               -               -             500         500            
Transfers (845)        845          -               -             -               -                 
Disposals -               (1,205)     (734)        -             -               (1,939)       
As at March 31, 2014 49,698$ 2,987$    17,750$ 5,439$ 1,250$    77,124$    
Net book value:
As at March 31, 2014 17,083$ 2,123$    11,680$ 1,689$ 25,179$ 57,754$    
As at March 31, 2013 22,753$   1,489$      12,605$   3,271$   16,147$   56,265$      
As at March 31, 2012 29,414$   1,794$      2,692$     4,487$   7,914$     46,301$      
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10.   INTANGIBLES [Continued] 
 
Assets classified as not ready for use are directly related to software licenses and video lottery software. 
 
The Corporation capitalizes internal salary expenditures related to implementation and testing of new gaming 
software solutions and internet websites for the sale of new customer products.  
 
During the year, the Corporation recorded capitalized borrowing costs amounting to $520 [2013 - $461] at a rate of 
1.94% [2013 - 1.94%]. 
 
Amortization includes $2,500 [2013 - $2,390] for video lottery software, included in other direct costs. 
 
11. LINE OF CREDIT 
 
The Corporation has available a $125,000 line of credit, which bears interest at prime less 0.50%, and charges a 
standby fee on the daily unadvanced portion of the credit facility at a rate of 0.1% per annum. 
 
Included in interest expense is $385 [2013 - $522] relating to line of credit. 
 
12.  ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES 
 

  
 
13. LIABILITIES FOR UNCLAIMED PRIZES 
 

 

2014 2013
Trade payables and accruals 24,221$           15,260$ 
Salaries payable 4,554               5,286     
Taxes payable 3,138               -             
Asset decommissioning provision 224                   1,064     
Player payable 581                   541        
Total accounts payable and accrued liabilities 32,718$           22,151$ 

2014 2013
Unclaimed prizes

Current prizes 20,745$ 20,341$ 
Special prize fund 3              -             

20,748$ 20,341$ 

2014 2013
Special prize fund

Balance, beginning of year -$             -$           
Unclaimed prizes expired during year 5,514      6,211     
Prize payouts (5,511)     (6,211)    
Balance, end of year 3$            -$           
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13. LIABILITIES FOR UNCLAIMED PRIZES [Continued] 
 
Unclaimed prizes from regional lottery games are retained in a prize fund for 12 months from the announced 
beginning date of the draw and sports games are retained in a prize fund for 744 days from the date of purchase of 
the ticket. Unclaimed prizes remaining after the respective periods are transferred to a special prize fund and are 
recorded as a reduction to prize expense and/or used for prizes in subsequent draws. Prizes of national lottery games 
are funded by the Interprovincial Lottery Corporation, with the exception of prizes for certain free tickets, which are 
paid out of general prize funds as incurred.  
 
Scratch’N Win prizes do not have an expiry period. Based on historical records, the Corporation has determined that 
minimal prizes are claimed after 36 months from the date of launch of the game. All unclaimed prizes from 
Scratch’N Win lottery games are retained in a prize fund for 36 months from the date of launch of the game. 
Unclaimed prizes remaining after the 36 month claiming period are transferred to a special prize fund and are 
recorded as a reduction to prize expense and/or used for prizes in subsequent draws.  Unclaimed prizes of national 
games are administered by the Interprovincial Lottery Corporation.  
 
14. DUE TO/FROM SHAREHOLDERS 
 
The amount due to (from) shareholders relates to the profit earned for the year, not yet paid (received).  
 

 
 
Since 2007 the Corporation has been making supplemental payments to the pension plan to reduce the pension plan 
solvency deficit. The supplemental payments were being funded by the Corporation via debt because the 
Corporation retains no retained earnings. The Corporation began withholding a portion of monthly profit 
distributions to shareholders in 2014 to fund the supplemental payments. The withholdings are scheduled until 2019 
when the pension solvency deficit is expected to be eliminated and supplemental payments discontinued. Upon 
transition to IFRS a retained earnings deficit was created. The deficit will be eliminated through the withholding of 
profit for the purpose of funding the supplemental pension payments.  
 
 

Profit Profit Profit Profit Profit payable
earned withheld distributed paid (receivable)

New Brunswick Lotteries and Gaming Corporation 119,755$    2,184$        117,571$    116,801$    771$            
Province of Newfoundland and Labrador 122,744      2,152           120,592      118,429      2,163           
Nova Scotia Provincial Lotteries and Casino Corporation 110,573      2,779           107,794      105,745      2,049           
Prince Edward Island Lotteries Commission 15,315        1,107           14,208        14,295        (87)               

368,387$    8,222$        360,165$    355,269$    4,896$        

Profit Profit Profit Profit Profit payable
earned withheld distributed paid (receivable)

New Brunswick Lotteries and Gaming Corporation 120,140$      -$                  120,140$      118,752$      1,388$          
Province of Newfoundland and Labrador 114,149        -                    114,149        112,088        2,061            
Nova Scotia Provincial Lotteries and Casino Corporation 112,761        -                    112,761        111,991        770               
Prince Edward Island Lotteries Commission 15,645          -                    15,645          15,454          191               

362,695$      -$                  362,695$      358,285$      4,410$          

2013

2014
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14. DUE TO/FROM SHAREHOLDERS [Continued] 
 
The withholdings are allocated among the shareholders based on the provincially allocated pension expense during 
the period of 2007-2010 to align with the time period in which the deficit arose. During the year ended March 31, 
2014, the Corporation withheld profit of $8,222 [2013 - nil]. 
  
15. LONG-TERM DEBT 
 

 
 
Long-term debt is reduced by established monthly payments. Payments over the next 12 months are disclosed in the 
current portion of long-term debt.  
 

2014 2013

91,065$       105,773$       

28,561         46,105           

10,539         11,391           

Bankers' Acceptance, maturing on June 16, 2014, bearing interest at 
1.83%. 40,000         -                     

Bankers' Acceptance, maturing on June 16, 2014, bearing interest at 
1.83%. 8,681            -                     

Bankers' Acceptance, maturing on June 19, 2013, bearing interest at 
1.34%. -                     25,000           

Bankers' Acceptance, maturing on April 19, 2013, bearing interest at 
1.25%. -                     8,681             

178,846       196,950         
Current portion of long-term debt 82,519         66,785           

96,327$       130,165$       

Bank term loan, amortized over 20 years, repayable in monthly 
installments of $71 plus interest, bearing variable interest rates 
based on 30 day Bankers' Acceptances, hedged by a fixed interest 
rate swap bearing interest at 5.13%, maturing in August 2016 and a 
fixed interest rate swap bearing interest at 2.88%, beginning 
August 2016 and maturing August 2026.

Bank term loan, amortized over 55 months, repayable in monthly 
installments of $1,400, bearing variable interest rates based on 30-
day Bankers' Acceptances, hedged by fixed interest rate swaps 
bearing interest rates at 2.58%, maturing in October 2015.

Bank term loan, amortized over 84 months, repayable in monthly 
installments of $1,200, bearing variable interest rates based on 30-
day Bankers' Acceptances, hedged by fixed interest rate swaps 
bearing interest rates at 1.94%, maturing in December 2019.
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15. LONG-TERM DEBT [Continued] 
 
The aggregate maturities of long-term debt for each of the five years subsequent to March 31, 2014  are 
approximately as follows: 2015 - $82,519; 2016 - $26,819; 2017 - $16,456; 2018 - $16,776; and 2019 - $17,156. 
 
Included in interest expense is $3,718 [2013 - $2,826] relating to long-term debt. 
  
The Corporation has a debt covenant limiting cash payments to shareholders to be less than or equivalent to profit 
earned. The Corporation is in compliance with this covenant. No assets have been pledged as security for the above 
debt. 
 
16. LONG-TERM LEASE PAYABLE 

 
 
The aggregate payment of long-term lease payable for each of the five years subsequent to March 31, 2014 are 
approximately as follows: 2015 - $938; 2016 - $378; 2017 - $393, 2018 - $111; and 2019 - nil. 
 
Included in interest expense is an amount of $120 [2013 - $227] related to software and hardware under capital 
lease. 
 
17. CASH FLOW HEDGE 
 
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments 
The Corporation does not use derivative contracts to manage transaction exposures.  
 
Cash flow hedges 
The Corporation holds 4 bank term loans bearing variable interest rates based on 30 day Bankers' Acceptances, 
hedged by fixed interest rate swaps. The interest rate swap has the same terms as the loan agreement to realize an 
effective hedge situation and therefore is not expected to impact the consolidated statement of operations. There  

2014 2013

232$  300$    

75       1,500   

500     1,764   

Lease of computer software payable in monthly installments of $27 
including interest at an imputed rate of 4.17% until June 2017. 1,013 1,294   

1,820 4,858   
Current portion of long-term lease 938     3,038   

882$  1,820$ 

Lease of computer hardware payable in monthly installments of $121 
including interest at an imputed rate of 3.5% until April 2014. 

Lease of computer software payable in monthly installments of $109 
including interest at an imputed rate of 3.5% until July 2014. 

Lease of computer hardware payable in monthly installments of $6 including 
interest at an imputed rate of 3.5% until June 2017. 
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17. CASH FLOW HEDGE [Continued] 
were no highly probable transactions for which hedge accounting has been claimed that have not occurred and no 
significant element of hedge ineffectiveness requiring recognition in the consolidated statement of operations. 
 
During the year ended March 31, 2014, the Corporation recorded the fair value of its cash flow hedges as a non-
current asset of $969, while the effective portion of the hedging derivative was recognized in other comprehensive 
income (loss). During the year ended March 31, 2013, the Corporation recorded the fair value of its cash flow 
hedges as a long-term liability of $2,526.  
 
18. EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS 
 
Pension benefits 
The Corporation participates in a multi-employer defined benefit contributory pension plan.  Benefits of the pension 
plan are based on employees’ length of service and the average of the 60 consecutive months of highest pensionable 
earnings prior to termination or retirement. The Corporation’s share of the multi-employer plan assets and the 
related accrued benefit obligation have been actuarially measured for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2014 
using the projected benefit method prorated on service and management’s best estimate of expected plan 
performance, salary escalation and retirement ages of employees.   
 
The most recent actuarial valuation for funding purposes was performed as at December 31, 2010 by Mercer, a firm 
of consulting actuaries. This valuation disclosed an unfunded liability of $4,086 for affected members of the wind-
up and $6,511 for non-affected members for the entire plan [2009 - $30,159 for all] of which the Corporation is one 
of the participating employers. Pursuant to the Act, the Corporation will pay its share of special payments, on 
average $8,000 annually, into the Plan in addition to the employer contribution for current service cost. These 
payments will continue until 2018 or until the benefits under the Act are fully funded as determined by an actuarial 
valuation whichever comes first. The additional amount paid during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014 was 
$7,857 [2013 - $7,657]. 
 
Other post-employment benefits 
The Corporation also sponsors the following post-employment benefits: 

1. Long-service award which covers all employees of the Corporation who retire from active service. The 
award is one week of pay for each year of service [up to a maximum of 25] based on earnings at retirement. 

2. Extended health and dental benefits. 
3. Life insurance and ad-hoc supplementary pensions.  

 
The most recent actuarial valuation of the other post-employment benefits liabilities was conducted as at March 31, 
2010 and those results were extrapolated to March 31, 2014.  Actuarial reports are prepared based on projections of 
employees’ compensation levels to the time of retirement and future health care costs based on management’s best 
estimate. 
 
Sick leave 
The Corporation offers its employees accumulation of unused sick leave days that the employees can use in later 
annual periods. The Corporation has provided for the cumulated sick leave days for which past empirical data of the  
usage of such days and the resulting future cash outflow are probable. Included in the individual costs for a sick 
leave day are all annual payroll costs of the respective employee divided by the average number employment days 
per annum. A provision totaling $656 [2013 - $650] is recorded and is included as part of other post-employment 
benefits.  
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18. EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS [Continued] 
 
Information about the Corporation’s employee future benefits as at March 31, in aggregate, is as follows: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2014 2013 2014 2013
Change in defined benefit obligation 
Balance, beginning of year 146,955$     121,396$        13,440$        11,007$          
Current service cost (employer portion) 4,895            5,296              921                758                 
Interest expense 6,477            6,039              570                560                 
Cash flows

Benefits paid (6,029)           (5,978)            (898)              (258)               
Employees' contributions 2,216            2,285              -                     -                     

Remeasurements
Effect of changes in demographic assumptions 8,525            -                     509                -                     
Effect of changes in financial assumptions (16,165)         17,917            (941)              1,373              
Effect of experience adjustments (812)              -                     323                -                     

Balance, end of year 146,062$     146,955$        13,924$        13,440$          

Change in fair value of plan assets
Balance, beginning of year 109,405$     95,075$          -$                   -$                   
Interest income 5,062            5,023              
Return on plan assets (excluding interest income) 11,089          2,469              -                     -                     
Cash flows

Employer contributions 10,415          10,951            898                258                 
Employees' contributions 2,216            2,285              
Benefits paid (6,029)           (5,978)            (898)              (258)               
Administrative expense paid from plan assets (420)              (420)               -                     -                     

Balance, end of year 131,738$     109,405$        -$                   -$                   

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheet
Defined benefit obligation ["DBO"] 146,062$     146,955$        13,924$        13,440$          
Fair value of plan assets 131,738        109,405          -                     -                     
Funded status 14,324          37,550            13,924          13,440            
Effect of asset ceiling/onerous liability -                     -                     -                     -                     
Net liability 14,324$        37,550$          13,924$        13,440$          

Defined benefit pension plan 
- Corporation's share 

Other post-employment 
benefits (unfunded)



Atlantic Lottery Corporation Inc.                                                                                
  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
March 31, 2014                        [thousands of dollars] 
 
 

29 
 

18. EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS [Continued] 
 

 
  

2014 2013 2014 2013
Components of defined benefit cost 
Service cost 4,895$          5,296$            921$             758$               
Net interest cost 

Interest expense on DBO 6,477            6,039              570                560                 
Interest (income) on plan assets (5,062)           (5,023)            -                     -                     
Total net interest cost 1,415            1,016              570                560                 

Remeasurement of other long term benefits -                     -                     -                     -                     
Administrative expenses on taxes 420                420                 -                     -                     

6,730            6,732              1,491            1,318              
Remeasurements

Effect of changes in demographic assumptions 8,525            -                     509                -                     
Effect of changes in financial assumptions (16,165)         17,917            (941)              1,373              
Effect of experience adjustments (812)              -                     323                -                     
(Return) on plan assets (excluding interest income) (11,089)         (2,469)            -                     -                     
Total remeasurements included in other 
comprehensive income ["OCI"] (19,541)         15,448            (109)              1,373              

(12,811)$      22,180$          1,382$          2,691$            

Net defined benefit liability (asset) reconciliation
Net defined benefit liability 37,550$        26,321$          13,440$        11,007$          
Defined benefit cost included in Stmt. Ops. 6,730            6,732              1,491            1,318              
Total remeasurements included in OCI (19,541)         15,448            (109)              1,373              
Cash flows

Employer contributions (10,415)         (10,951)          (898)              (258)               
Net defined benefit liability as of end of year 14,324$        37,550$          13,924$        13,440$          

Significant assumptions
Benefit obligation 

Discount rate 4.70% 4.50% 4.59% 4.28%
Rate of salary increase 3.70% 4.00% 3.70% 4.00%
Rate of price inflation 2.20% 2.50% -                     -                     
Rate of pension increase -                     -                     2.20% 2.50%

Defined benefit cost
Discount rate 4.50% 5.10% 4.28% 4.97%
Rate of salary increase 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% 4.00%
Rate of price inflation 2.50% 2.50% -                     -                     
Rate of pension increase -                     -                     2.50% 2.50%

Total defined benefit cost recognized in Stmt. Ops and 
OCI

Defined benefit pension plan 
- Corporation's share 

Other post-employment 
benefits (unfunded)

Defined benefit cost included in Statement of Operations 
["Stmt. Ops."]
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18. EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS [Continued] 
 
The following table demonstrates the Corporation’s sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the significant 
assumptions used to determine the defined benefit obligation: 
 

 
 
The sensitivity analyses above have been determined based on a method that extrapolates the impact on the net 
defined benefit obligation as at March 31, 2014 as a result of reasonable changes in key assumptions.  
 
19. PROVISIONS 
 
Decommissioning  
The Corporation records the fair value of a decommissioning provision in the year during which it is incurred and 
can be reasonably estimated. This provision is associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets that result 
from the acquisition, construction, development and/or normal use of the assets. The Corporation also records a 
corresponding asset that is amortized over the life of the asset. Decommissioning provisions are classified as current 
if the useful life will expire in the next fiscal year and as a long-term asset if the useful lives extend beyond the next 
fiscal year. Provisions have been recorded for gaming equipment in the amount of $730 [2013 - $1,064]. The 
provision is classified as a current payable of $224 [2013 - $432] and a long-term liability of $506 [2013 - $632]. 
 
20. SHARE CAPITAL 
 
Authorized and issued on incorporation is one common share to each of the provinces or their agencies for cash 
consideration of one hundred dollars per share. 
 
21. PAYMENTS TO THE GOVERNMENT OF CANADA 
 
Under federal/provincial agreements, the Government of Canada agreed to withdraw from the sale of lottery tickets 
and to refrain from re-entering the field of gaming and betting.  In consideration, all provinces and territories of  

Change in 
discount rate

Weighted average 
duration of defined 
benefit obligation 2014

Effect on net defined benefit obligation + 0.5% 22 years 163,084$     
Effect on net defined benefit obligation - 0.5% 21 years 131,337$     

Change in 
inflation rate 2014

Effect on net defined benefit obligation + 0.5% 130,325$     
Effect on net defined benefit obligation - 0.5% 164,171$     

Change in 
mortality  2014

Effect on net defined benefit obligation -1 year setback 149,118$     
Effect on net defined benefit obligation + 1 year setback 142,961$     
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21. PAYMENTS TO THE GOVERNMENT OF CANADA [Continued] 
 
Canada pay $24,000 annually, in 1979 dollars, adjusted by the consumer price index each year.  The amount paid for 
the current year was $70,176 for all provinces and territories. 
 
The Corporation, as the Regional Marketing Organization of the Interprovincial Lottery Corporation, remits its 
member provinces’ share of the above payments to the Interprovincial Lottery Corporation.  The payment is 
included in the consolidated statement of operations as a deduction from profit and was allocated to the 
Corporation’s member provinces based upon disposable income of the province, as follows: 
 

  
 
22. TAXES 
 
In lieu of the collection of HST on lottery ticket sales to the consumer, GST/HST paid on goods and services 
purchased that relate to gaming activities is not recoverable and is recorded with the cost to which it relates.  Said 
goods and services are subject to the HST rate being applied a second time for remittance to the Federal 
Government, recorded as tax expense. 
 

  
 
23. COMMITMENTS 
 
Operating leases 
The Corporation is committed to payments for the lease of equipment and premises occupied by its head office, as 
well as operations in Nova Scotia, Newfoundland and Labrador, and Prince Edward Island. These leases have a 
duration of between one and 13 years, and the lease contracts end in the period from 2014 to 2027. Some of the 
contracts for the head office and operational properties include renewal options.   The minimum future annual lease 
payments over the next five years are as follows:  2015 - $3,436; 2016 - $3,116; 2017 - $3,106; 2018 - $2,673; and 
2019 - $2,627.   
 
Outsource agreement 
On July 18, 2010, the Corporation entered into a 7 year outsourcing agreement with CGI, with the option of three 
one year renewable terms.  The scope of the agreement is for Infrastructure Services, Application Services, Project 
Services and the purchase of most non-gaming IT assets. The minimum future annual payments to CGI over the next 
five years are as follows:  2015 - $22,365; 2016 - $22,074; 2017 - $22,029; 2018 - $6,422; and 2019 - nil.   
 
 
 

2014 2013
New Brunswick Lotteries and Gaming Corporation 1,386$ 1,386$ 
Province of Newfoundland and Labrador 1,052    981      
Nova Scotia Provincial Lotteries and Casino Corporation 1,744    1,746   
Prince Edward Island Lotteries Commission 251       242      

4,433$ 4,355$ 

2014 2013
Harmonized Sales Tax (HST) 27,296$ 27,213$    
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24. NET CHANGE IN NON-CASH COMPONENTS OF WORKING CAPITAL 
 

 
 
25. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
Transactions with key management personnel 
Key management personnel (Corporate Executives) receive compensation in the form of short-term employee 
benefits and post-retirement benefits. Key management personnel compensation for the year ended March 31, 2014 
is $2,519 [2013 - $1,950] which includes pension benefits of $181 [2013 - $155]. 
 
Other related party transactions 
The Corporation is related to its shareholders: New Brunswick Lotteries and Gaming Corporation, Province of 
Newfoundland and Labrador, Nova Scotia Provincial Lotteries and Casino Corporation and Prince Edward Island 
Lotteries Commission. 
 
The Corporation holds 100% equity interest in Atlantic Gaming Equipment Limited, 7865813 Canada Inc., and 
8157154 Canada Inc.  All intra-Corporation balances, transactions, income and expenses, and profits and losses, 
including dividends resulting from intra-Corporation transactions, are eliminated in full. 
 
26.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
Fair value versus carrying amounts 
The fair value of financial instruments generally corresponds to the consideration for which the instrument could be 
exchanged in an arm’s-length transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties.  
 
Financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value are grouped into Levels 1 to 3 
based on the degree to which the fair value is observable: 
 

• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities; 

 

2014 2013
(Increase) decrease

Accounts receivable 5,770$     (6,395)$     
Prepaid expenses and deposits (2,752)      2,326         
Inventory 453           (1,096)       

3,471       (5,165)       

Increase (decrease)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 10,567     (8,329)       
Deferred revenue 462           110            
Liabilities for unclaimed prizes 407           (1,018)       
Due to shareholders 485           3,131         

11,921     (6,106)       

Net change 15,392$   (11,271)$   
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26.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS [Continued] 
 

• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within 
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived 
from prices); and 

• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the 
asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

 
The following tables present the breakdown of fair value measurements of financial instruments recognized at fair 
value on the consolidated balance sheet. 
 

  
 
The fair value of cash, restricted prize cash, accounts receivable, due to/from shareholders, line of credit, accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities and liabilities for unclaimed prizes approximate their carrying amount largely due to 
the short-term maturities of these instruments.  
 
The financial asset in Level 3 relates to a purchase by the Corporation of an investment during the year ended March 
31, 2012 that is classified as an available for sale financial asset. Its fair value is not available on the market and 
therefore, is measured at cost. No realized or unrealized gains or losses have been recognized for this financial asset 
as at March 31, 2014. 
 
The Corporation has entered into a derivative financial instrument with a financial institution with an investment 
grade credit rating. Interest rate swaps are the only derivatives valued using a valuation technique with market 
observable inputs. The applied valuation technique is a swap valuation model using present value calculations. The  

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Financial assets
  Available for sale -$                   -$                   8,681$          8,681$          
Total financial assets -$                   -$                   8,681$          8,681$          
Financial liabilities
  Derivatives designated as hedging 
  instruments in an  effective hedge -$                   (969)$            -$                   (969)$            
Total financial liabilities -$                   (969)$            -$                   (969)$            

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Financial assets
  Available for sale -$                   -$                   8,681$            8,681$            
Total financial assets -$                   -$                   8,681$            8,681$            
Financial liabilities
  Derivatives designated as hedging 
  instruments in an  effective hedge -$                   2,526$            -$                   2,526$            
Total financial liabilities -$                   2,526$            -$                   2,526$            

2013

2014
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26.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS [Continued] 
 
models incorporate various inputs, including the credit quality of counterparties and interest rate curves. Because the 
derivatives are valued with their fair value in accordance with IAS 39, the recorded carrying value at the 
consolidated balance sheet date equals the fair value of the financial instrument.  
 
27. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 
The Corporation does not retain any earnings. Net profit, after deducting contractual amounts due to the 
Government of Canada, is returned to the Province of Newfoundland and Labrador, Province of Prince Edward 
Island, Province of Nova Scotia and Province of New Brunswick.  
 
The Corporation’s policy is to maintain a structure which allows it to have sufficient liquidity to meet both 
operational demands and payments to the Provinces. The profit of the Corporation is distributed twice monthly to 
each of the shareholders.  
 
As a result of fluctuating cash flow requirements and to minimize market risk, the Corporation maintains a high 
degree of liquidity and has a line of credit available. Corporate assets are financed through debt borrowings in the 
form of bank term loans and a line of credit.   
 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the oversight of management, including its policies related to financial and 
risk management issues.  
 
There were no changes in the Corporation’s approach to capital management during the year.  
 
28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The Corporation has exposure to credit risk, liquidity risk, and market risk from its use of financial instruments. This 
note presents information about the Corporation’s exposure to each of these risks and its objectives, policies and 
procedures for measuring and managing these risks.  
 
Risk management framework 
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Corporation’s risk 
management framework. The Board of Directors has established the Audit Committee, which is responsible for 
developing and monitoring the Corporation’s risk management policies. The Audit Committee reports regularly to 
the Board of Directors on its activities. The Corporation’s risk management policies are established to identify and 
analyze the risks faced by the Corporation, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and 
adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in the market 
conditions and the Corporation’s activities. The Corporation, through its training and management standards and 
procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand 
their roles and obligations.  
 
The Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Corporation’s risk management 
policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced 
by the Corporation. The Audit Committee is assisted in its oversight role by Internal Audit. Internal Audit 
undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are 
reported to the Audit Committee.  
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT [Continued] 
 
Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer 
contract, leading to a financial loss. The Corporation is subject to credit risk due to the nature of its operations where 
retail partners collect the Corporation’s revenue. 
 
This risk is managed through frequent collection of revenue and the control to pull funds from retailers’ bank 
accounts and through retaining security deposits where the individual risk is assessed as high.  The Corporation is 
not materially exposed to any one individual retailer or service provider and has applied standard credit practices 
which limit the Corporation’s exposure to credit risk. The maximum risk the Corporation would be exposed to is 
$16,734 and the average balance for any one retail location outstanding is approximately $5. There are no accounts 
receivable balances outstanding greater than 90 days. As a result of the limited and controlled risk there is no 
provision established for bad debt.  
 
The Corporation is not subject to credit risk for internet gaming sales because they are through credit card, debit 
card, online bill payment purchases or webcash purchases where customers pay in advance of transactions.  
 
Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they become due.  
 
To manage cash flow requirements, the Corporation has a line of credit from which it may borrow up to $125,000. 
Short-term financing is unsecured and interest is payable at prime less 0.50%, and charges a standby fee on the daily 
unadvanced portion of the credit facility at a rate of 0.1% per annum. 
 
The Corporation’s Finance division manages liquidity risk by forecasting and assessing actual cash flow 
requirements on an ongoing basis, as well as by planning for short-term liquidity with investment maturities chosen 
to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet the Corporation’s financial obligations.  
 
The carrying values of the financial liabilities approximate their fair values due to the relatively short periods to 
maturity of these items, or because they are payable on demand. The table below summarizes the maturity profile of 
the Corporation’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments. 
 

 
 
 
 

Maturity On demand
Less than 12 

months 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years 5 to 10 years
Line of credit 14,940$      -$                   -$                 -$                 -$                   
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities -                  32,718           -                   -                   -                     
Liabilities for unclaimed prizes -                  1,465             -                   -                   -                     
Due to shareholders -                  4,895             -                   -                   -                     
Debt -                  82,519           26,819         50,388         19,120           
Lease payable -                  938                378              504              -                     
Other long term liabilities -                  -                     -                   171              335                

14,940$      122,535$       27,197$       51,063$       19,455$         
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT [Continued] 
 
Market risk 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices will affect the fair value of future cash flows of a financial 
instrument. Market risk is comprised of currency risk, interest rate risk and other market price risk.  
 
Currency risk  
The Corporation is exposed to currency risk (or foreign exchange risk) by settling certain obligations in foreign 
currencies (primarily USD and GBP). Gains and losses due to foreign exchange rate fluctuations are minimized by 
settling foreign obligations as quickly as possible. The transactions in foreign currency are minimal and therefore the 
Corporation is not materially impacted by currency risk.  
 
Interest rate risk 
The Corporation’s Finance division manages interest rate risk by forecasting and assessing actual cash flow 
requirements on an ongoing basis, and securing fixed rate debt (hedges) for financing of long-term projects. On an 
ongoing basis, the Corporation is exposed to interest rate risk through its line of credit which is subject to interest 
charges at prime less 0.50%, and charges a standby fee on the daily unadvanced portion of the credit facility at a rate 
of 0.1%.  Fluctuations in the prime rate by plus or minus 1% could impact the Corporation’s annual net profit by an 
amount of $149 [2013 - $191] based on the line of credit balance as at March 31, 2014.  
 
Other market price risk 
The Corporation offers the Proline brand of lottery products in the marketplace. The Corporation manages risks 
associated with these products by: 

• setting odds for each event within a short time frame before the actual event; 
• establishing sales liability thresholds by events, by combination of events, by retailer, and by player; and 
• posting conditions and prize structure statements on www.alc.ca.  

 
The Corporation has the authority to suppress sales of any game at any time when liability is a concern.  
 
 

http://www.alc.ca/
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